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A message from our chair
I’m unsure what excites me most
about the year ahead. Much of UK
Environment Secretary Michael
Gove’s rhetoric about fisheries
is highly encouraging, and the
thought that it might become
reality helps get me out of bed
in the morning. A new tranche
of marine conservation zones in
English waters is a motivator, as are
commitments in Scotland to large
new marine protected areas and
consultation on a deep-sea marine
reserve. The prospect of meaningful
action to stem the tide of ocean
plastics quickens the pulse. As
do preparations for 2020’s major
international gathering on wildlife –
the conference of the parties to the
Convention on Biodiversity, to give

its full and prolix title – which could
presage muscular commitments at
last to address species decline.
These good things can, and should,
happen. There is less positive
news in Wales, which has not yet
started selecting offshore marine
conservation zones or covering
inshore gaps in that network.
And meaningful management for
designated sites of all stripes is
still being ducked in many places
across the UK.
This is a snapshot of the
background against which MCS
works. If this context presents a
mixed picture, the development of
our organisation does not.

I HAVE NOTHING BUT PRAISE FOR OUR EXCELLENT STAFF AND
VOLUNTEERS’ TEAMS. SEVERAL OF THEIR ACHIEVEMENTS STAND OUT
FOR ME. OUR VISIBILITY HAS RISEN IMMEASURABLY, AND WE HAVE
OPENED AN OFFICE IN LONDON. OUR MEMBERSHIP IS ON THE UP,
AND OUR SENSE OF DIRECTION – DEFINED IN A STRATEGY ADOPTED
BY TRUSTEES AT THE TURN OF THE YEAR – HAS NEVER BEEN STRONGER.

Hugh Raven
Chairman, MCS

I’m feeling pretty upbeat, and it’s
not just because in this exceptional
summer I’ve had more time out in
my boat on the Sound of Mull. Of
course, there’s lots to do. But we’ve
never been fitter to do it.
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Atlantic puffins © Ray Hennessy
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A message from our chief executive
There are many reasons why 2018
could be defined as the ‘year of
the sea’. Without doubt, media
attention has been a central one.
Never before have mainstream
news organisations supported
marine conservation with the same
intensity. Sky Ocean Rescue and
the BBC’s Blue Planet II series, in
particular, have increased public
awareness about the threats to the
ocean to unprecedented levels. The
result is that the seas are now also
high on the agenda of policymakers.
As positive and encouraging as this
is, the truth is that marine litter and
pollution are still rising; we still need
a complete and effective network
of marine protected areas around
the UK that are well managed and
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properly funded; and it is still far
too easy to be served red-rated fish
species in restaurants.
This is not a paradox: we have never
been so strong, and yet, we have
never needed to fight so hard.
EU exit – with a whole new
environmental law regime –
remains one of the biggest
opportunities and challenges we
have ever faced.
For MCS this has very much been a
year of transition. Our new strategy
puts science and people at its core
and works outwards from there
to achieve our vision of ‘seas full
of life’. Through identifiable and
measurable objectives, we aim

to improve marine governance,
affect positive individual behaviour
change and work towards a
sustainable and equitable economy.
Less than a constitution, more than
a manifesto, it provides all corners
of this growing organisation with
a compass to navigate the rough
waters ahead of us.
To be sustainable, our income
needs to be as diverse as possible.
For that, we need more financial
support from individuals and
more members. The only way
to achieve this is to make sure
people know about our work. We
have, therefore, been riding the
wave of public interest to give a
much louder and stronger voice

Dolphin © dive-hive/Shutterstock

to MCS’s conservation work. We
have invested in our capacity to
reach out to people, both in the
flesh, with our volunteer work and
digitally, through engaging work
on social media and compelling
campaigns, as well as through our
exciting restyled magazine. The
early results are breathtaking: our
flagship citizen science project,
the Great British Beach Clean, was
awarded ‘Conservation Success
of the Year 2018’ by readers of the
BBC Countryfile magazine, and our
public campaigns have seen a huge
increase in support and audiences.

Sandy Luk
Chief Executive,
MCS

WE HAVE NEVER BEEN SO STRONG AND DETERMINED.
WE HAVE NEVER LOOKED FORWARD TO THE NEXT YEAR WITH SO MUCH
SUPPORT, OPPORTUNITY AND THREAT. IT’S GOING TO BE A BIG ONE!

INTRODUCTION
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Our goals
UK COVERAGE OF
WELL-MANAGED MARINE
PROTECTED AREAS

ENVIRONMENTAL

Apr 2018  1%
Apr 2023 30%

Sustainable fisheries
and aquaculture
We will ensure there are more
fish in healthier seas, improve
the way wild fisheries and fish
farms are managed, and influence
consumers and seafood businesses
to be more responsible in their
seafood buying choices.

20 INSHORE MARINE
PROTECTED AREAS
FORMALLY MONITORED
BY SEASEARCH

Apr 2018 10,000
Apr 2023 20,000

A 50% DROP
IN KEY ITEMS OF
BEACH LITTER
by Apr 2023

NUMBER OF
MEMBERS/ADOPTERS
Apr 2018  8,700
Apr 2023 13,600

by Apr 2023

REACH OF OUR
GOOD FISH GUIDE
Apr 2018 730,000
Apr 2023 1.4 million

FISHERIES &
AQUACULTURE IN
THE UK BASED ON
SUSTAINABILITY

ORGANISATIONAL
Income, impact and profile
We will be the UK marine
conservation charity of choice
for funders and supporters,
with a high profile and a large,
sustainable, diverse income base.

DEPOSIT RETURN
SYSTEMS FOR DRINKS
CONTAINERS
by Apr 2021

A TAX ON
SINGLE-USE
PLASTIC

OCEAN
SCHOOLS
Apr 2018  0
Apr 2023 10

WEB TRAFFIC
(UNIQUE USERS PER MONTH)

Apr 2018  51,500
Apr 2023 120,000

by Apr 2019

by Apr 2023

An expert and professional
organisation
We will deliver first class science
and practical conservation
supporting our memorable
campaigns, and engaging outreach
and education programmes – all
based on strong finances, human
resources and professional IT.

SEAFOOD MEALS
INFLUENCED BY MCS
PER YEAR
Apr 2018 300 million
Apr 2023  600 million

AQUACULTURE
REGULATION
REVISED TO MINIMISE
ENVIRONMENTAL
DAMAGE

the new strategy
ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

Apr 2018 1,000
Apr 2023 2,000

50%

Ocean recovery
We will ensure our seas are
better protected, improve marine
management, secure wellmanaged marine protected areas,
recover, nurture and protect
marine species and habitats,
and track ocean recovery.

OUR GOALS

NUMBER OF
VOLUNTEERS

P

Clean seas
We will ensure our seas are cleaner,
track the health of our seas, identify
key sources of pollution and
develop innovative solutions for
preventing it and cleaning it up.
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VOLUNTEER-CLEANED
BEACHES PER YEAR

INFLUENCE 12 KEY
BUSINESSES TO STOP
PRODUCING OR SUPPLYING
SINGLE-USE PLASTIC

FACEBOOK
LIKES
Apr 2018 117,000
Apr 2023 250,000

by Apr 2021

A BAN ON PLASTIC
STRAWS, STIRRERS &
COTTON BUD STICKS
by Apr 2019

TOTAL
INCOME
Apr 2018 £2,900,000
Apr 2023 £5,800,000

by Apr 2021
Olive ridley turtle © Ben Cherry
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how we achieve Our goals
Advocating policy and legislative
change, including through
influencing politicians,
judicial challenges
and public-facing campaigns

x

x

x

Challenging, educating,
engaging and influencing people,
partners and communities

x

x

x

Engaging in dialogue with
and challenging regressive,
unsustainable businesses

x

x

x

Supporting and sharing
best practice, and creating
alliances and partnerships
with progressive,
sustainable businesses

Engaging in hands-on practical
conservation and providing
evidence through scientific,
technical research
& citizen science studies

x

x

x

x

x

x

x

Blue shark © Saeed Rashid
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HOW WE ACHIEVE OUR GOALS

We advocate policy changes,
influencing governments and
decision-makers across the UK and
internationally.
We challenge decision-makers
when laws are not enforced.
We connect with and empower
people and communities to take
action and participate in our
campaigns.
We encourage understanding of
the value of a healthy ocean.
We work with people and
communities to inspire behaviour
change.
We build partnerships with other
civil society organisations and
influencers.
We monitor business practice and
identify the poorest performers.
We engage with key businesses to
challenge poor practice.
We use public-facing campaigns
to change consumer opinions and
influence business practice.
We advise businesses on measures
to protect the marine environment.
We form partnerships with
businesses to share best practice.
We publicise where businesses
have changed practice to protect
our seas.
We use sound scientific analysis and
evidence to understand our seas
and work with academic partners
to provide the supporting evidence
for our projects and campaigns.
We run a UK-wide Sea Champions
volunteer programme to spread
our message in local communities.
We engage in hands-on practical
conservation projects with our
partners and volunteers.
We provide open-access, accurate
data through our innovative
citizen science programmes such
as Seasearch.
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Our theory of change
Our vision

Our goals

Outcomes

Agents of change

What we do and
the tools we use

Seas Full of Life
1 Fisheries and aquaculture that respect our environment
and contribute to thriving seas and society
2 Pollution free seas and a society that works to achieve them
3 Healthy and abundant oceans for people and wildlife

1

2

3

Sustainable
fisheries and
aquaculture

Clean
seas

Ocean
recovery

Good
governance

Individual
behaviour change

Sustainable and
equitable economy

Key policies and laws
ensure sustainable,
ecosystem based
management,
and they are implemented,
complied with and enforced

People are informed,
engaged and deeply
connected with our seas
– contributing to good
governance and ready to act
to protect marine life

Businesses recognise
the natural capital value
of the ecosystems
provided by the marine
environment
and behave responsibly

Regulators

Civil society

Business

(triggers: votes,
constituency, legality)

(triggers: values,
interests)

(triggers: profit,
reputation)

Direct policy
advocacy and
challenge
legislation through
public facing
campaigns

Engage, build
partnerships
and alliance
with NGOs

Challenge,
inspire, empower,
educate, engage
and influence
people

Engage
in dialogue
and challenge
regressive,
unsustainable
businesses

Support, share
best practice and
create alliances
and partnerships
with progressive
sustainable
businesses

MCS team, volunteers and academic partners
engage in hands-on, practical conservation and provide
evidence through scientific, technical research and citizen
science studies

Our values

We believe
in equitable,
transparent,
accountable,
democratic
institutions

We believe
in an inspired
and engaged
society that
values the sea

We believe
in science and in
people. They are
at the heart of
what we do

We believe
in the benefits
and the value
of people’s
connection
to the ocean

We believe that
businesses can
and must be
sustainable

We are
committed
to being
inclusive and
promoting
diversity

THE NEW STRATEGY
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OUR YEAR IN NUMBERS

...IN FIGHTING FOR THE SEAS...
Our staff increased
from 62 to 68

WE ENGAGED PEOPLE...
Almost 90% of UK bathing water
is now Good or Excellent

18,319 volunteers
supported us

Volunteers gave over
5,695 days of their time
...MORE SUSTAINABLE SEAFOOD...
We picked up 734,111 pieces of litter
totalling 16,800kg

We improved the sustainability of the seafood
of over 300 million meals this year

21,154 people engaged
at 254 events

We developed new or updated Good Fish Guide
ratings for 287 different fisheries
and fish farming methods

We engaged 12,770 young people at events,
assemblies, workshops and online
...AND PROTECTION OF WILDLIFE
We were in the media
7,696 times

We helped secure protection for 685km2
of our UK seas, taking the total area
designated in MPAs to 10x the size of Wales

Twitter followers 37,200
Facebook likes 136,000
Instagram 12,500

Our 300 Seasearch divers spent over
14 weeks underwater

Our Seasearch divers recorded 3,428 habitats,
52,754 species and 1,152 dive sites
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Northern gannet in flight © James Warwick

THE NEW STRATEGY

11

GOOD GOVERNANCE
In the long term, the legislative framework for governance of the
marine environment in the UK and devolved administrations needs to
be holistic, integrated and ecosystem-based, as well as implemented
effectively, complied with and enforced. This will mean that:
Key EU legislation affecting the marine
environment has been brought fully
into law throughout the UK.

Marine litter strategies and circular
economy approaches have been
adopted.

New legislation and regulations
strengthen marine health, water quality,
recovery and protection.
Marine planning and licensing are in
place to manage all activities inside
and outside marine protected areas,
including fisheries and aquaculture.
It is effective and based on the
precautionary approach.

In the next five years, policy and legislative changes
should include the following:
EU legislation that is key to the
recovery and protection of the marine
environment is incorporated fully into
domestic law and implemented actively
as the framework for ecosystem-based
management of our seas, including
habitats and species protection, bathing
water quality and the ecological quality
of transitional, coastal and marine waters.
Defra’s 25-Year Plan for the Environment
and future measures in Scotland, Wales
and Northern Ireland, set out and
implement a more holistic, ecosystembased management system for the
marine environment, including marine
planning, and protect damaged habitats
for recovery.

Aquaculture legislation, regulations
and plans adopt ecosystem-based
management and are implemented
through robust monitoring and
enforcement.
Legislation is in place to provide for
an ecologically coherent and highly
protected network of marine sites that
are properly managed, monitored and
enforced.
Effective rules regarding marine litter
are in place in all UK administrations,
including levies on single-use plastics,
deposit return systems for drinks
containers and effective marine litter
strategies.

Post EU exit UK fisheries legislation
is progressive, adopts an ecosystembased approach, is jointly developed
and mutually agreed by all UK
administrations, is compatible with that
of neighbouring states (EU, Norway and
Faroes), and is effectively implemented
with fully integrated and robust
monitoring, control and surveillance.
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Long-spined sea scorpion © Mark Thomas
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Shanny/Common blenny in amongst reef at Norfolk © Rob Spray & Dawn Watson

Fishing boats in Ullapool Harbour, Scotland © Neil Williamson

Fully bringing key EU legislation on the Marine
Environment into law throughout the UK

The laws that will protect the
environment after EU exit are being
drafted even at the time of writing
this report. Intense negotiations and
continual consultations involving
a large number of stakeholders are
ongoing and were already taking
place last year. This is the time for
what experts call ‘the inside track’.
MCS used the technical and policy
making skills of our staff to best
effect in influencing government and
stakeholders on the future shape of
environmental governance for the
marine environment. To maximise our
impact, we worked in collaboration
with other environmental NGOs
through groups such as Greener
UK and Environment Links UK. We
engaged parliamentarians and high
ranking civil servants in London,
Cardiff and Edinburgh through briefs,
meetings and events.
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In particular, MCS was heavily
involved in negotiations with the
UK Governments on the future of
fisheries management. As part of a
coalition with Greener UK, we worked
to ensure that the UK replacement
for the EU’s Common Fisheries Policy
will be as good as, or better than, the
current approach, so ensuring the
future sustainability of fisheries around
the UK. Together with environmental
NGOs within Environment Links UK
and Greener UK, MCS produced a
number of briefings, including one
regarding access to justice for the
environment post EU exit.
Our close collaboration within these
groups gave us a much stronger
collective voice in Westminster and
in the devolved administrations and
allowed us to push for strong environmental regulation throughout the UK.

ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

IMPACT
Defra has recently published their
White Paper on the Future of
Fisheries, which will inform the
fisheries bill. Although not perfect
and rather scant on detail, the
document does include most of our
asks. We remain cautious and plan
to campaign before and during the
approval of the bill, but we are also
quite satisfied with the progress that
has been made so far.

New legislation and regulations strengthen marine health,
water quality, recovery and protection

MCS continued to work for laws
and measures to be introduced and
implemented on sustainable fisheries
management, including measures
relating to North Sea cod and
seabass. MCS first red-rated North Sea
cod over 10 years ago, and had a red,
rating for seabass for several years.
We also raised awareness of poor
management with key stakeholders
including the Defra Fisheries Minister.
In Scotland, we worked with the
Sustainable Inshore Fisheries Trust
(SIFT) to create a guide to licences
and consents required for aquaculture
to help members of the public
understand the planning process for
fish farming. We also represented the
Scottish LINK group of environmental
organisations on the Clyde Marine
Planning Partnership to help influence
the Clyde Marine Plan to ensure
that environmental principles are

considered, and that the Marine Plan
will truly improve the health of the
Clyde. MCS called for the Environment
Agency to produce new, stronger
regulations for Combined Sewer
Overflows (CSOs) in order to ensure
higher water quality and therefore
less pollution in the sea.
IMPACT
Since MCS’s first red-rating, there
have been improvements in the
North Sea cod stock. North Sea cod
caught by otter trawl is now certified
as ‘sustainable’ (see case study). We
consider this strategic target, initially
intended for year 2020, reached.
Following campaigning and
advocacy from MCS and other
organisations, new seabass
management measures were

brought into effect. They include a
ban on recreational landings, further
restrictions to monthly commercial
catches, and a complete ban in
February and March each year.
Together with SIFT, we published
The Marine Aquaculture Consenting
Guide, which was widely distributed
in western and northern Scotland.
The guide enables local communities
to exert greater influence over how
their local sea areas are managed
in relation to fish farming. Being
part of the Clyde Marine Planning
Partnership on behalf of Scottish LINK
has meant that the voice of marine
conservation is heard more loudly
in the plans being developed. The
Environment Agency produced new,
stronger regulations for Combined
Sewer Overflows (CSOs), which
include better monitoring, stricter
management.
GOOD GOVERNANCE
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Internationally, as part of the
Great British Oceans coalition, we
campaigned for the protection of
precious marine sites in UK Overseas
Territories.
IMPACT

A fresh haul © Nguy-n-Linh

Marine planning and licensing ARE in
place to manage all activities inside
and outside marine protected areas,
including fisheries and aquaculture.
It is effective and based on
the precautionary approach

MCS has been working for many
years to secure a sufficient number
and quality of marine protected
areas (MPAs), together with effective
management measures for those
areas, which need to be properly
implemented, complied with and
enforced. In 2017/18 we continued
this work, including advocacy for
effectively implementing EU and
national legislation in relation to
many marine protected areas in
England, Wales and Scotland, often
working with academics and partners
such as ClientEarth or the Save
Scottish Seas coalition we are part of.
For example, we carried out
significant advocacy to influence the
Welsh Government’s Climate Change,
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Environment and Rural Affairs
Committee (CCERA) report into the
Welsh Government’s approach to
marine protected area management,
including providing written and oral
evidence that highlighted failings
in financing and leadership on MPA
management. We also continued to
push for a whole-site approach for
marine protected areas.
We also worked to develop an online
tool to provide comprehensive
information on English MPAs as
an important means of helping
our stakeholders to easily access
information on all English MPAs,
including what management
measures are in place.

ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

Following our detailed advice,
Inshore Fisheries & Conservation
Authorities in Essex, Northwest
England, Southern England and
Cornwall introduced five new
byelaws to manage fishing activities
in marine protected areas called
marine conservation zones.
In August 2017, CCERA published
its ‘Turning the Tide?’ report into the
Welsh Government’s approach to
marine protected area management.
The report reflects our evidence
and key recommendations for
stronger leadership and delivery of
management duties to protect MPAs
in Wales.
Through MCS publicity and
awareness raising, significant
sustainability issues within the
draft Welsh National Marine Plan
were recognised by environment
ministers, government and assembly
members. The increased political and
media interest resulted in the Welsh
Government changing their advice
on ‘Areas for Development’ so that
developers must now take better
account of MPAs.
Following the discovery of damage
to flameshell beds in Loch Carron
in 2017 (see case study), Marine
Scotland declared Loch Carron a
temporary MPA, and have since
announced that they would consult
on making Loch Carron’s temporary
MPA permanent.
Our new ‘MPA Reality Check’
website now provides an important
tool for measuring progress and
holding authorities to account on
the designation and management
of MPAs. In January, the UK
Government published its 25-Year
Environment Plan, which included a
commitment to move to whole-site
protection for MPAs.

Left to right:
MCS CEO Sandy Luk,
Alex Chalk MP
and Environment Minister
Michael Gove
© Jack O’Donovan Trá

Marine litter strategies and circular economy
approaches have been adopted

2017/18 saw an intensification of our
advocacy on marine litter-related
issues to help us reach our goals for a
circular economy. Following our work
to support a ban on microbeads, we
pushed heavily for the introduction
of deposit return schemes (DRS),
bans on single-use (throwaway)
plastic items such as plastic straws
(unless required for health purposes),
stirrers and plastic cups, and taxes or
levies on single-use plastic items. For
example, MCS submitted evidence to
the Environmental Audit Committee
inquiry into coffee cups and drinksrelated litter.
In December 2017, on the back
of the results of our 2017 Great
British Beach Clean, we launched a
campaign to introduce charges on
single-use plastic. Later, we ran a
campaign for the public to respond

to the Treasury’s consultation on
taxing single-use plastic items, as
well as providing evidence to the
consultation in partnership with a
coalition of other organisations.
IMPACT
Following years of advocacy
research and outreach by MCS
and others, in June 2017, the
Scottish Government committed to
introducing Deposit Return Systems
(DRS) in Scotland. Governments in
England and Wales have since made
similar announcements on DRS (see
case study).
The Environmental Audit Committee
inquiry report into coffee cups
and drinks related litter reflected a
number of our recommendations for
UK Government action.

A ban on manufacturing microbeads
finally came into force in England in
January 2018.
The Treasury had a record number
of responses from individuals (over
400,000) and organisations (over
200) to its consultation on a tax on
single-use plastics. We had almost
26,000 responses to our December
campaign and over 40,000 took
action and submitted our suggested
consultation response to the Treasury.
As a result of this unprecedented
public support, the Treasury has
accepted the idea that charges
are needed to reduce, reuse and
recycle the amount of plastic used
in our economy. New policies will
be announced during the October
budget session.

GOOD GOVERNANCE
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CASE STUDY 1
LOCH CARRON
Thanks to divers trained by Seasearch,
who documented damage from
scallop dredging to flameshell reefs
in Loch Carron, an emergency Marine
Protected Area for outer Loch Carron
was designated by the Scottish
Government. Amongst six other
sites, MCS proposed Loch Carron
as an MPA in 2012: it was the only
flameshell site that did not go forward.
Local divers self-mobilised, most of
whom were Seasearch trained, and
speedily submitted data as well as

video evidence and photographs.
MCS co-ordinated letter writing from
stakeholders throughout Scotland to
Marine Scotland’s conservation team,
calling for both restorative measures
for Loch Carron and a more sustainable
approach to managing scallop
dredging. MCS also co-ordinated
a formal LINK letter to the Cabinet
Secretary following corroboration of
the damage. MCS species champion
for the flameshell, Maree Todd, MSP,
asked a parliamentary question
regarding the Loch Carron damage.
Next steps for MCS include coordinating the Save Scottish Seas

coalition and LINK marine project
staff to prepare for future advocacy
of fisheries management relating
to priority marine features, the next
tranche of inshore MPA management
measures and ongoing advocacy
for the Inshore Fisheries Bill. Much
of the delivery of the Loch Carron
work will be through working for the
necessary measures within the close
coalitions we have formed with other
organisations over many years. This
work helps MCS to ensure that MPAs
protect rare, threatened, vulnerable,
declining, nationally or internationally
important species and habitats.

An exposed flameshell on a dense bed in Loch Carron
© Graham Saunders/SNH

CASE STUDY 2
NORTH SEA COD

Big cod fish and shoal under water
© Krasowit/Shutterstock

CASE STUDY 3
DEPOSIT RETURN SYSTEMS
After three years of intense
advocacy and coalition work, and
following success in getting a
commitment from the Scottish
Government for a Deposit Return
System for drinks containers
in Scotland, Environment
Secretary Michael Gove has since
announced a DRS for England.
A consultation is to follow.
MCS has been working on this at
a low level for 10 years, but started
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to really push for it about three
years ago, including being part of a
coalition driving for the introduction
of a DRS in England and Wales.
MCS responded to a consultation
and gave written and oral evidence
to the Environmental Audit
Committee on their inquiry into
bottle waste in 2017. The DRS
should cover drinks containers of
all materials (plastic, glass, cans).
Major barriers to Deposit Return
Systems have been packaging
companies, the plastics industry
and compliance schemes. Enablers

ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

Since MCS first red-rated North Sea
cod over 10 years ago, numerous
areas of our work have led to
improvements in the stock. North
Sea cod caught by otter trawl is now
certified as sustainable by the Marine
Stewardship Council and MCS has
improved our own score to a ‘5’ (to
give a rating of ‘3’ / yellow), which
was our 2020 strategic target for this
fishery. MCS policy works at domestic
and EU levels – in particular the focus

on reducing fishing mortality to MSY
has been an important contributor
over the last six years. MCS also played
a key role in highlighting the plight
of North Sea cod to the supply chain
and consumers over 10 years ago,
with a red rating in the Good Fish
Guide. This has contributed to many
large businesses avoiding North
Sea cod. The ratings also helped
identify specific issues of concern
and promoted improvements when
they started to appear two years ago.
Whilst the industry played a key role
in developing avoidance measures for

cod, their representatives challenged
and opposed reductions in catches
every year. It is possible that recovery
may have occurred more quickly if
the industry reps had a longer term
view of sustainability. Conversely,
industry has enabled this outcome
through developing avoidance
measures. MCS will continue to
monitor the fishery and continue
work at policy and supply chain levels
to improve fisheries management
in the North Sea. While this fishery
has improved, there is still more
work required to get it green rated.

include the Co-op, Iceland, Tesco
and Waitrose, who have publicly
supported a DRS for drinks
containers. Scotland is in the stages
of designing a DRS system now.
MCS attended the first design
workshop in February 2018.
We need to ensure that schemes
throughout the UK work together
so that consumers see no
difference between them. MCS
will push for any scheme to be for
all containers (glass, plastic, and
aluminum at minimum) and all
sizes – not just ‘on the go’ items.

Plastic litter washed in by the tide © Lycia Walter/Shutterstock
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CASE STUDY 4
THE TAX ON THROWAWAY (SINGLE-USE) PLASTIC

Great British Beach Clean 2017
The Great British Beach Clean 2017 saw our highest
number of volunteers ever taking part in this annual
nationwide event – just over 7,000. The volunteers
picked up record amounts of litter from 339 beaches –
more than ever before. All parts of the UK got involved
from the far north of Scotland to the Channel Islands,
Northern Ireland and almost every coastal county
around England and Wales. The 2017 event revealed a
10% rise in litter compared to 2016.
The event also coined a new phrase – ‘on the go litter’.
It was widely used in the press coverage of the results
in November. ‘On the go’ items – the things we use for
convenience when not at home – made up 20% of all
litter found on the UK’s beaches during the 2017 Great
British Beach Clean. 138 pieces of this type of litter were
found on average per every 100m of beaches that were
cleaned and surveyed.
20
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© Daughter/MCS

(15–18 September)

We immediately launched an appeal to the
Government to impose a levy on disposable, singleuse plastic items including drinks cups, plastic cutlery,
foil wrappers, straws, sandwich packets, lolly sticks,
plastic bottles, drinks cans, glass bottles, plastic cups,
lids and stirrers.
Our #STOPthePlasticTide campaign, borne out of the
2017 event, caused a ripple effect in the fight against
plastic pollution. Nearly 30,000 took action via our
website to ask the UK Government, pubs, restaurants
and fast food chains to ditch single-use plastic items.
The UK Government launched a plastic tax
consultation at the beginning of March 2018 – in
no small part due to the back-breaking support of
the 7,000 volunteers who cleaned our beaches the
previous September.
GOOD GOVERNANCE
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In the long term, people need to be well-informed, engaged and deeply
connected with our seas, and take action to protect marine life, with
small daily actions and through big transformative campaigns. This
means they need a greater public understanding, for example, of the:
Benefits and value of people’s
connection to the ocean.

Connection between human health and
wellbeing and the health of our seas.

Need for ecosystem resilience to climate
change.

Need for and characteristics of
responsibly sourced seafood that is
more sustainable.

Impact of pollutants on the ocean and
the need for a zero-waste society (a
‘circular economy’) as a solution.

In the next five years, people need to become more informed,
engaged and connected with our seas – contributing to good
governance, and ready to act to protect marine life. This means that:
More and more people understand
the value of clean seas and beaches for
recreation, health and wildlife and the
benefits this has for local tourism and
the coastal economy.
People understand the full range of
benefits the sea brings to them and
support legislation to protect and
improve it.
More and more people demand that
businesses use the sea sustainably,
adopt an ecosystem-based approach
and help mitigate and build resilience to
climate change.

An increasing proportion of consumers
choose to buy only the most sustainable
seafood.
Communities around the UK and
UK Overseas Territories celebrate
and steward their marine resources,
including local marine protected areas.
People ensure that their personal
actions do not impact on coastal water
quality.
Beach users demand robust and up-todate information on water quality and
use it to make informed choices.

The public demands sustainably
produced, responsibly sourced seafood
from restaurants and shops.

People reduce, reuse and recycle and
appropriately dispose of their waste
(and they avoid single-use plastics).

Local communities are empowered to
influence national and local decisions to
support ocean recovery and sustainable
fisheries management.

The national curriculum incorporates
learning about the sea and marine
conservation.

Consumers are better informed,
empowered and motivated to demand
that businesses supply seafood from the
most sustainable sources.
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Undulate rays Raja undulata © Peter Smithson
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The launch of Plasticus, Sky's whale that toured the UK to raise awareness
on plastic pollution. MCS supported the tour with beach cleans
and through social media from day one © Richard Harrington

INFORM AND INSPIRE

2017/18 was a landmark year for
ocean conservation across all media
channels, amongst a wide public of
key audiences and stakeholders. We
worked closely with Sky Ocean Rescue and the BBC Blue Planet II series
to help make ocean issues clear for
their significant audiences and, in so
doing, placed MCS at the forefront of
the organisations working on marine
matters in the UK.

Sir David Attenborough, Blue Planet II © Gavin Thurston/BBC

With Sky, we launched Ocean Rescue’s Plastic Whale to the world in
August, taking its message from London to coastal and other city venues
for the month afterwards. Sky showcased our pollution campaigns and
beach litter studies from around the
UK throughout the year. We collected
30kg of litter in 30 minutes with
volunteers and Sky’s chief science
reporter on Arrochar beach. We’ve
talked about coffee cups, microbeads
and bottles to Sky’s cameras, helping make sure that politicians and
businesses took note of many crucial
conservation matters.
We were consulted in the making of
the Blue Planet II series, and benefitted enormously from its considerable
broadcast impact. Materials we filmed
with BBC Digital were viewed by an
audience of over half a billion. We
timed our Stop the Plastic Tide to coincide with the series end, yielding over
30,000 responses and making it clear
that a fiscal action to tackle plastic is
a requirement, and a demand, of a
newly-informed public. Advertising
billboards provided by Ocean Outdoor
placed our visual campaign materials amongst shoppers and travellers
around the country. Defra’s 25-Year
Plan for the environment promised
action on plastic in January 2018.
We made headlines in print media,
including front pages and leader
columns; we gave our views on
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broadcast news and magazine
programmes; and reached local
and regional media to great effect
amongst a total of 7,696 items.
Whether it was about winter storms,
glitter as micro-plastic, a latte levy,
or the Countryfile Magazine award
for the MCS Great British Beach
Clean, we made sure the voice of the
marine environment was loud and
clear through all media channels.
PRODUCING INSPIRING
CONTENT: OUR NEW MAGAZINE
We have invested in content production for our media channels, to
increase both quantity and quality.
We invigorated Marine Conservation,
the magazine for our supporters, to
make it a much bigger, much better
resource for both existing and new
audiences. It now includes opinion, debate and letters along with
in-depth features and articles, and
fabulous photography.
SOCIAL MEDIA
Over the year, we increased our digital
impact massively with more targeted
social media and a redesigned website. Followership on Facebook grew
from 99,815 to 136,000 despite significant changes to Facebook’s policies
on serving organisational content, and
on Twitter from 24,083 to 37,000. In
terms of impact, we involved opinion
formers, celebrities and journalists,
and were able to leverage support
for our campaigns and our projects
through digital channels like never
before. We’ve raised MCS’s profile and
engaged many tens of thousands of
people, while achieving results for
nature. Over 5,000 people participated
in the Plastic Challenge, supported in
large part by digital means.

THE DAILY MAIL COVER
OF 30 NOVEMBER 2017. NON-SPECIALISED
MEDIA FEATURED THE RESULTS
OF THE GBBC REPORT AND ENDORSED
THE FIGHT AGAINST PLASTIC POLLUTION

BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
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WINTER 2017

winter 2017

spring 2018

Our cover story was dedicated
to the Great British Beach Clean
report, that showed a 10% increase
in beach litter in 2017. We used this
evidence to launch our campaign
for the taxation of single-use plastic.

Engagement requires engaging
content and skilful distribution.
In 2017 we focused on
producing more and better
stories and sourced stunning
photos to support the content.

C O N S E R V A T I O N

SPRING 2018

Our cover story dedicated to the
future of UK fisheries after EU exit.
THE

FUTURE

OF

What are we leaving to our children?
Seas full of life or... litter?
Here's how we avoid the horrible heritage
We’re taking back our waters. Can we protect our seas
whilst getting a bigger share of the fish? Or will we mess things up?
Here’s what we need to do for a true #BlueBrexit
SPRING 2018

HURRICANE IRMA Devastated island calls for help WINTER Underwater life thrives
PSYCHE Why we love, or fear, the sea

WINTER 2017

We have featured more
endangered species and
marine conservation zones.
We have addressed some
controversial issues that divide
the conservation community
and we've analysed marine
iconography in the arts.

C O N S E R V A T I O N

CONSERVATION

CONSERVATION

CASE STUDY 1
PRODUCING
AND DISTRIBUTING
INSPIRING CONTENT

Will fishers and
conservationists
ever see eye to eye
during the Brexit
process and will
broad agreement
still be one man’s
dream and another
man’s nightmare?

The stories were distributed
across all media: printed, and
digital (social and web).

#STOPTHEPLASTICTIDE Make a difference THE YEAR OF THE REEF To save our
underwater forests SCUBA-PSYCHE Ocean, the great healer

OPPORTUNITIES

RISKS

Brexit: fishermen’s

Fishermen’s dreams and conservationists’

DREAM COME TRUE

NIGHTMARES

Mike Park
CEO of Scottish White Fish Producers Association

Scottish fishermen have long
dreamt of the day they could begin
to lay claim to a larger share of the fish stocks
from around our shores. The fact that Norwegian
fishermen catch 84% of their own stocks and Iceland 90% hasn’t escaped our attention. The UK
gets access to around 42% of the stocks within
our Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ).

PHOTO STORY

UNDULATE
RAYS

From Dorset to the Med
12

WINTER 2017

Undulate rays Raja undulata are an endangered species.
But despite that label they’ve been reported as abundant in
patches along the English Channel including Sussex, Poole,
around the Isle of Wight, Lyme Bay, the Channel Islands and
further south in the Mediterranean Sea.
The undulate ray skeleton is made of cartilage and they have
rounded flat bodies which can grow up to 1 metre in length.
Their very thin whip-like tail can grow as long as their bodies
and their skin has a pattern of swirly brown stripes and yellow
and white spots. They can weigh up to nine kilos and to keep
predators at bay they have spiny backs and tails and a prickly

underbelly. Undulates feed on crustaceans and live at depths
of up to 30 metres on sandy and soft mud seabeds.
The main threat to undulate rays is bycatch in mixed
fisheries, but they’re thought to be quite resilient to capture
and release, and so if they are discarded alive, survival rates
are thought to be high. Recreational divers, Martin and
Sheilah Openshaw, have had almost 100 encounters with
undulate rays near Kimmeridge Ledges, a series of shallow
ledges reaching out to sea about a mile off Dorset’s Isle of
Purbeck peninsula.

UK fishermen had come to accept that change,
if possible, would be the result of a slow agoTalk of an implementation period where the
nising process. In the ‘International order’ of
UK will have to abide by the Acquis (the body of
EU fisheries it was unlikely that any member
EU law) for a twenty-one-month period, whilst
state would relinquish fishing opportunities to
having no say at the table, fills UK fishermen with
another, even with the rather obvious impacts of
dismay and trepidation. Not only would it mean
regime shift and changing patterns of fish stocks. a thirty-three-month transition for fisheries, given
A useful example is the emerging abundance of
that agreement reached at the end of 2020 is
previously unseen hake in the North Sea. Scottish binding for the whole of 2021, it would put us in
vessels have very little quota for
harm’s way for a range of other,
hake and spend an inordinate
obvious reasons. Those of us
FISHERMEN
VIVIDLY
amount of time trying to avoid
who have extensive exposure to,
REMEMBER THE BETRAYAL
large aggregations where one
and knowledge of, the annual
AS WE ENTERED EUROPE.
four-hour tow can capture up to
fisheries negotiations, especially
IT CANNOT HAPPEN
40 or 50 tons, around 10% of the
the political horse-trading that
AGAIN AS WE EXIT
UK quota. It shows why ‘relative
goes on, have little faith in any
stability’, a permanent state of
commitment by the EU to proshares based on a snapshot in
tect our interests.
history, is an outdated yet permanent fixture of
how we currently manage EU fisheries.
Fishermen remember quite vividly the betrayal
of Edward Heath as we entered what was then
Brexit delivers the opportunity to energise the the EEC. A double dip betrayal as we exit would
process of change and take us closer to the Norbe further recognition that although many view
way and Iceland position. As a coastal state with
coastal communities as an essential component of
control over who gets access to our waters we
our island nation’s fabric, the importance of other
will be able to negotiate new catch shares based sectors, and the willingness to use us as pawn in
on the zonal attachment of stocks of fish, not on
what is a big, complex negotiation, dictates that
what we caught relative to others in the 1970s.
we will always be of minor consideration. There is
We will argue for an intelligent, adaptive regime
still a real threat and fear that the UK could agree
capable of responding to a continuously changcontinued access and quota shares for EU vessels
ing ecosystem. As a coastal state the UK will
for the next decade; this would give away five
command a very strong negotiating position,
billion pounds of opportunity at first sale.
due to the fact that the EU, Norway and Faroes
all require significant access to our waters. The
Fishermen remain confident and buoyant but
early post Brexit years will see a series of annual
understand that the real enemy is the process
exchanges where access to the UK zone is
where nothing is agreed until it’s all agreed.

“We know the rays are not always there but we have no
knowledge of where they go, how frequently they may
visit the site, how far they may travel, whether they remain
close by between sightings or whether they visit on
occasional days as part of a much wider travelling pattern.
Hopefully our information gathered from this site, and the
possible identification of similar sites will complement
other research studies and provide answers to some of
these unknowns.”
Photo Peter Smithson
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openly traded for additional opportunities. These
annual trades will exist for a number of years
until such time as a new ‘end state’ is agreed with
new fixed levels of shares. This new dynamic will
prevail until such time as nature says we need to
amend it. Whether we reach similar percentages
to Norway and Iceland remains to be seen, however, what we have come to understand is that
our current slice of the cake isn’t large enough.
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LONG LIVE SOCIAL MEDIA
Clicktivism gets a lot of bad press. Many
argue that one Facebook share or Twitter
retweet cannot go very far in the fight
against plastic – but we disagree, and
here is why. When it comes to government
consultations, it is essential that the public
gets involved. It is very easy for politicians
to dismiss a topic if they can show there
is no public support. Many of the 160,000
submissions in the Treasury's consultation
on the taxation of throwaway plastic were
sent thanks to social media shares. Here
are the posts people liked the most, which
sent the plastic tax message far and wide.

Samuel Stone
Head of Fisheries & Aquaculture at MCS

For years the fishing industry has
complained about the EU: for the
unfair proportion of the fishing quota, the inflexible rules and for the slow pace at which institutions move. But has it been all bad?
The UK has the second largest coastline in the
EU (behind Greece) and also one of the largest Exclusive Economic Zones (the sea zone
on which we have special rights), so it is right
to expect us to have the lion’s share of the EU
fisheries resources. And we do – with the second
largest share of EU quota behind Spain.

environment that they depend upon has
changed. Fishing and humans are recognised
as part of the whole marine environment and
it’s understood now that this cannot be only
valued in terms of GDP. Commercial fisheries
exploit a wild, public resource, produce food for
millions and support livelihoods of thousands.
Fishing is also inextricably linked to, and impacts
upon, an environment that is critical for an array
of services that we depend upon every day and
take for granted, such as the air we breathe, our
climate, nutrient and energy cycling, and the
enjoyment many of us receive from interacting with the sea in some way, shape or form.
The traditional overexploitation of our fisheries
resources and our general treatment of the seas
has jeopardised all of this, and society has learnt
the hard way that fisheries need to be carefully
and well managed.

It does appear that the UK should have a bigger
slice of the fish pie and Brexit may provide just
the opportunity to get it, but one of the key
differences between the UK and our coastal state
peers, such as Iceland and Norway, is the fact that
the UK has many more neighbouring countries (mainly memWITH THE UK WANTING
bers of the EU, that also happen
TO CATCH MORE
to be our biggest clients) and
AND THE EU UNWILLING
therefore shares more waters and
TO CATCH LESS NO WONDER
resources. The UK shares about
WE’RE WORRIED
100 fish stocks with our neighbours and whilst we can control
access to our waters, we can’t
control where the fish swim. With the UK claiming
its waters out to 200 nautical miles, the EU is no
doubt nervous about many of its fisheries post
Brexit. EU countries catch 585 million euros worth
of fish from UK waters, whereas we only catch 127
million euros worth from EU waters.
This should stand us in good stead for negotiations on fisheries resources, but it’s certainly not
a foregone conclusion that the EU will relinquish
parts of its share of catches that are currently
caught in what will be the UK EEZ. There is no
binding resolution for the EU to catch less simply
because we want to catch more.
Since the UK joined the EEC 40 years ago,
commercial fishing has clearly not always
been at the top of political priorities, but the
perception of fisheries and the wider marine
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Whilst the EU machine is big
and slow to react and has not
been without its controversies, what it has done well in
recent years is place the marine
environment high on its list of
priorities. Over the last decade,
EU policies have actually enabled unprecedented progress in improving the sustainability of our fisheries. For example, we’ve gone
from a position 15 years ago where virtually all
main fish stocks were subject to overfishing, to
now, where about 40% of assessed stocks (and
declining) are subject to overfishing. As we now
embark upon our exit from the EU, it is imperative that this progress be maintained.
In theory the industry and conservationists
broadly agree on this point: hand in hand we
must make our fisheries more sustainable after
Brexit. However... with UK fishermen wanting to
catch more, and the EU unwilling to catch less,
none should be surprised by our deepest fear:
that fishermen’s dreams could quickly become
conservationists’ nightmares.

SPRING 2018
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MARINE CONSERVATION ZONE

CROMER SHOALS
Norfolk’s Great Barrier Reef
Dr Peter Richardson

Pinocchio and his father Geppetto escape whale
Monstro (Walt Disney, 1940)
Jonah escapes the whale (Pieter Lastman 1583-1633)

e
g

Terror and punishment (and eventually rebirth)
are synonyms of “the sea-monster”, ready to
swallow you whole, and trap you in a dark and
wet stomach/dungeon. But how did a highly
intelligent, social, docile marine mammal join the
undesired club of mean marine horrors? Well it
all started with Jonah in the Old Testament. God
punishes Jonah and has him in the dark belly of
the sea giant for three days and three nights, when
he repents and is released. From Jonah, all the
way to Ahab’s Moby Dick and Pinocchio’s Monstro,
the iconography of the mean marine giant that
gobbles men up has had infinite variation.
The problem for whales, however, seems to
be in the translation: in the original (Hebrew)
Bible Jonah is swallowed by a dag gadol (a big
fish). Then the New Testament (in Greek) uses
the word kētos (huge fish). Which then in Latin
becomes piscis grandis (big fish). It’s with the
English translation around the year 1600 that the
big fish becomes... a whale (a cetacean, from the
Greek kētos). The iconography could not have
been clearer: from Roman mosaics to Flemish
Pieter Lastman (all the way to China’s dragon)
the sea-monster is a huge snake-like fish. Not a
whale. Some reputations are truly undeserved.

The Cromer Shoals present a truly breathtaking,
iconic underwater landscape. Known by some as
the ‘Great Barrier Reef of Norfolk’, the shoals are
thought to be Europe’s most extensive chalk reef,
stretching more than 30 km along the coast, and
reaching out up to 10 km into the North Sea. The
market town of Cromer sits central to the reef, and
is known around the world for its iconic Cromer
Crab. These sweet and diminutive edible brown
crabs hustle and bustle around the countless
nooks and crannies constantly being eroded
into the soft chalk bedrock. Crab and lobster
populations on the reef support a centuries-old
beach-launched fishery, with generations of
fishing families continuing to form the backbone
and character of local, coastal communities.
But there’s a lot more living under the waves
on the reef. Seasearch surveys have revealed
more than 120 species of seaweed and other
plants, and more than 350 species of fish and
invertebrates. A recently established snorkel trail at Sheringham means
the reef is accessible to intrepid swimmers. Strap on a mask, snorkel and
a stout pair of fins and you’ll encounter huge shoals of bib cruising over
the verdant seaweed gardens, spot secretive tompot blennies cautiously
peering from their holes, and see exquisite grazing nudibranchs. You may
even come across the recently discovered species of purple encrusting
sponge. The splendour and diversity of the reef was fully recognised
in 2016 when it was designated as the Cromer Shoal Chalk Bed Marine
Conservation Zone, which spans from Weybourne to Happisburgh and
covers a mighty 321 km2. Our new ‘Agents of Change’ project has started
working closely with local fishermen and other community members to
help fully recognise and develop the benefits of the MCZ designation.
By balancing the needs of local communities and biodiversity, this iconic
submarine landscape can continue to support both people and marine
wildlife for generations to come.
Photos Rob Spray
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Sailors sacrifice Jonah to the whale (Aquileia, Roman
mosaic, IV sec a.D.)
Captain Ahab (Gregory Peck) fights Moby Dick in John
Huston’s movie (1956)
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ULTRAMARINE
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Welcome to our eccentric (sea-centric) column on visual arts.
If art is a window on human souls, we’ll be looking through it,
to see what the ocean and sea life mean to us. Through time and cultures

SEA MONSTERS
The whale, lost in translation
Isabel Hildebrandt
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Herring school © Evikka/Shutterstock
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single-use plastic to avoid

SPRING 2018 MAGAZINE

NO RED HERRINGS
WHEN IT COMES
TO YOUR FAVOURITE FISH
It’s time to move away from the UK’s traditional top five choice
of cod, haddock, prawns, salmon and tuna and cast your net
into the brave new world of herring, hake and mackerel

Bernadette Clarke

#goplasticfree

STILL CHOOSING FROM THE UK’S TOP 5 FAVOURITES?
Cod, tuna, salmon, haddock and prawns all appear on the green rated, Best Choice list ( 1 or 2 )
– but of course it’s not that simple. Not all fisheries are green rated. So if you can only bear to stick
to one of the top five firm favourites then you must make sure that you look for:

ONE OF OUR INFOGRAPHICS THAT HELP PEOPLE CHANGE THEIR BEHAVIOUR DURING THE PLASTIC CHALLENGE

CASE STUDY 2
THE PLASTIC CHALLENGE
We have run a ‘Plastic Challenge’
for more than three years now –
challenging the public to give up
single-use plastic for a month. The
‘challenge’ is a tough one; it is not
until you come to do it that you
realise just how reliant we are on
plastic that gets used once and is
then thrown away. The challenge is
about changing our behaviour and
sharing tips with like-minded people.
In 2016, just over 1,000 people took
part but in 2017, 5,035 registered
to give up using single-use plastic,
which includes food packaged
in plastic, plastic water bottles,
plastic milk bottles, shower gels,
toothpaste and pasta, to name but
a very few!
Our 2017 Plastic Challenge has
been the most successful yet,
showing there is a growing
understanding of the effect plastic
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pollution is having on our oceans.
The support we have received has
been amazing and we know, from
the comments we have received on
social media, that this is the start of
a lifestyle change for many.
In 2016, The Ellen MacArthur
Foundation reported that every year
about eight million tonnes of plastic
enters the ocean – that is roughly
one rubbish truck being tipped
into the ocean every minute. The
Foundation also stated that by 2025
there would be one tonne of plastic
for every three tonnes of fish and by
2050 the ocean will contain more
plastic by weight than fish. Scientists
at Ghent University in Belgium
recently calculated that people who
eat seafood ingest up to 11,000 tiny
pieces of plastic every year.
The Plastic Challenge was
supported by adventurer, TV
presenter and author, Simon Reeve
who congratulated everyone who
took part, whether it was for the
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whole month or just part of it: “Over
five thousand people went head
to head with single-use plastic!
Social media was buzzing with
people shocked at how ridiculously
dependent we’ve become on the
stuff. If you’ve started using less
single-use plastic please keep going
– let’s build this movement to make
our seas cleaner and safer.”
The Plastic Challenge community
shares all sorts of tips during the
month via the MCS website and
social media feeds – getting toilet
rolls wrapped in paper delivered,
baking their own bread, ditching
plastic drinking straws and clingfilm,
going back to using bicarb for
cleaning and choosing glass milk
bottle deliveries.
For 2018 we have ambitious plans:
we want to get nearer to 10,000
people taking part, as more and more
members of the public understand
the terrible price the ocean is paying
for our plastic society.

Cod

Tuna

North East Arctic or Iceland
MSC certified

Albacore
Atlantic, North Pacific
Pole and line or Troll
South Pacific
Longline MSC certified, Troll
Skipjack
West Atlantic, West Central Pacific,
Indian Ocean – Pole and line;
Maldives – Pole and line MSC certified
Yellowfin
West Central Pacific – Pole and line,
handline; Solomon Islands – Longline
MSC certified
Bigeye
West Central Pacific – Pole and line

Haddock
Rockall, Irish sea, Iceland,
North East Arctic
MSC certified

Salmon
Atlantic (farmed)
Soil Association organic certified
Pacific
MSC or Alaskan RFM certified

Prawns
Coldwater or northern
MSC certified
King or Tiger (farmed)
Organic certified

The Marine Conservation Society has updated its comprehensive
set of advice on the website www.goodfishguide.org

CASE STUDY 3
CHANGING THE WAY WE EAT
A sample from our magazine
Throughout the year we have offered
information and advice to consumers
on sustainable seafood.

BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
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JO AINSWORTH

BLAISE BULLIMORE

KERRY LEWIS

ROY SMITH

OUR VOLUNTEERS

SEA CHAMPIONS
Sea Champions is our nationwide
volunteer programme. People can
get involved and support MCS in a
variety of ways depending on what
appeals to them, whether that is
organising hands-on beach cleans or
participating in national campaigns,
giving talks, attending local
events, raising funds or promoting
sustainable seafood choices in their
local community. We offer plenty of
opportunities to suit everyone.
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We have found that people power
really brings about change for the
better – convincing governments
of the need for marine legislation,
helping supermarkets to see the
need to source sustainable seafood,
and informing public opinion more
widely. Sea Champions are helping us
achieve just that by bringing about
positive change in their communities.
Sea Champions get support from
our Volunteer Managers, meet
like-minded people and gain new
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skills through on the spot training.
Whether they are retired, students
or professionals, anybody can get
involved and make a difference for
our seas.
BEACHWATCH
Beachwatch is our national beach
cleaning and litter surveying
programme – helping people all
around the UK to care for their
coastline.

Thanks to Beachwatch, people can
join an event or organise one, and
be part of the most influential fight
against marine litter in the UK.
Ours are more than ‘just’ beachcleans, they are true game changers
that can stop litter from reaching
our beaches. How? Well, we talk
to water companies when we
see lots of sewage related debris
being recorded. We prove to
decision makers and leaders that
our seas are in trouble by showing
them over 20 years of litter data.

We can talk to companies whose
logos keep showing up on beach
litter and we can work with
manufacturers to find solutions. We
can do this because we have the
data to back up our asks.
IMPACT
We engaged 17,033 volunteers who
donated 31,439 hours and delivered
1,228 beach cleans during which
734,000 pieces of litter (16,800kg)

were removed from the coastline.
We conducted a survey amongst
volunteers to find out more about
the experience. The majority
felt that the beach clean was an
enjoyable, meaningful experience
and that their well-being and
connectedness to nature had
increased because of it. Most
also thought their awareness had
increased because of the event,
and that their 'marine-friendly'
behaviour would have improved in
the future as a consequence.
BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
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Agents of Change project,
coordinated by Alice Tebb © Peter Richardson

Engaging communities

The long term objective for stakeholder engagement work at MCS is to
bring about a fundamental and widespread change in the way people
who use and benefit from our seas
think about, engage with and manage them. We are pioneering a values
based-approach, which surfaces and
takes account of the diverse values
and benefits the ocean provides, to
improve the quality of stakeholder
engagement, decision-making and
outcomes for our seas.

change and nurture local ownership and stewardship of protected
sites. The project has identified and
engaged a number of local agents
of change and continues to broaden
and deepen local community
engagement with both designated
and proposed MPAs.

With funding from the Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation we embarked
on an innovative and collaborative
project – ‘Agents of Change’ – which
aims to change the narrative around
marine protected areas (MPAs) in Sussex and Norfolk by engaging deeply
with local communities to identify local people who can catalyse
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Pupils hand over report to Roseanna Cunningham
© Catherine Gemmell

Education

IMPACT
Following in-depth engagement
work in Norfolk, Sussex and
Lincolnshire using the Community
Voice Method last year, we delivered
a final report and recommendations
to the Eastern Inshore Fisheries and
Conservation Authority (EIFCA).
This year has seen the EIFCA put
learning from this project into
action to inform their own strategic
planning and change not only
how they engage, but also who
they engage with – ensuring a
more diverse and representative
constituency of people are engaging
in the conversation about marine
resources in the district.

Our Cool Seas Education programme
aims to increase participation of
young people in MCS conservation
programmes and improve ocean
literacy. We aim to enable them to
develop a connection to the ocean
and understand some of the key
choices they can make for healthy,
thriving seas. This year, our education
activity engaged 12,770 young people at events, assemblies, workshops
and online. Feedback from teachers,
pupils and other organisations is consistently excellent, with the quality of
our resources and delivery regularly
being commended by educators.
In addition to our rolling programme
of school and group visits and
workshops, we delivered a range of targeted activities in support of our conservation programmes. We designed
and piloted Cool Seas Investigators

(CSI) projects with our Ocean Recovery
team exploring ways to build young
people’s understanding of marine
protected areas with a specific focus
on the proposed marine conservation
zone at Beachy Head East. In Eastbourne this included development of
a self-led pack for teachers, engaging
pupils with their local fishing heritage and incorporating the arts to get
children to design floral displays for the
town’s ‘In Bloom’ initiative. In Hastings
we ran a day of workshops for schools
taking part in an Eco day exploring and
debating threats to the local marine
habitat. Younger pupils created an
art installation for display locally. We
have also designed a CSI: What The
Fish? Workshop in association with
the Fisheries and Aquaculture team.
This curriculum-linked resource can be
adapted for all secondary school ages
and is now ready for pilot. As part of

our Clean Seas programme we developed the Bincentives anti-littering
campaign for secondary schools based
on the winning school’s campaign
from the CSI Litter Challenge project.
Online resources provide everything a
school needs to engage their pupils in
incentivising anti-littering behaviour.
The resource has been accessed by
over 100 schools across the UK.
The team is also engaged in work
with strategic partners to develop
joined up and collaborative working to improve ocean literacy in the
UK, and coordinates the UK Ocean
Schools Resource Hub on Facebook.
This is a community page to encourage discussion and share best practice in marine education. To date we
have 286 members globally, including teachers, marine educators, other
NGOs and interested parents.
BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
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A SUSTAINABLE AND
EQUITABLE ECONOMY
In the long term, we need businesses to apply values associated with our
seas (environmental, economic and social) in decision-making, product
design, supply and end use, including:
The natural capital value of marine
ecosystems (financial and non-financial)
and the economic benefits of pollutionfree and biodiverse seas in supporting
recreation, coastal communities and
tourism.

Designing products so that they do not
end up in the sea as waste.
Sourcing and procuring seafood in an
environmentally responsible way.

In the next five years, we need businesses to recognise the natural
capital value of ecosystems provided by the marine environment
and responsibly by:
Businesses, landowners and industry
beginning to build the full economic
and intrinsic value of the marine
environment into their decision-making,
activities and reporting.
Supermarkets and food outlets taking
a lead in reducing single-use plastic,
whilst also aiming to reduce their
carbon footprint.
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Industry increasing buy-in for
marine planning, management and
conservation measures.
Major seafood suppliers removing or
improving all high risk/red-rated seafood
and food service providers implementing
responsible sourcing policies.

Drinks manufacturers and retailers
adopting deposit return systems for
plastic bottles.

Fish and seafood sustainability being
included in educational resources for
various sectors including supply, food
service and catering, regional authorities
and primary producers.

Suppliers improving labelling and
marketing of ‘unflushable’ products
and adhering to the UK Water Industry
standard for flushability.

Pathways for the improvement of
high-risk aquaculture sources being
established and supported by the
commercial supply chain.

Food outlets and other businesses
ensuring that their actions do not
impact on coastal water quality.

Aquaculture industry operating within
environmental limits and applying an
ecosystem-based approach.

ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

Hawksbill turtle eating plastic © Saeed Rashid
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Mackerel for sale at market © tookapic

MCS Wet wipe monsters © Anglian Water

Businesses are sourcing and procuring seafood
in an environmentally responsible way

Through our work on seafood
ratings we continued to influence
restaurants, suppliers and
supermarkets to source sustainable,
responsibly produced seafood.
In 2017 we had some notable
successes.

After a request from MCS, Tesco
agreed to stop selling grey mullet
as long as it remains MCS red-rated.
They also changed the source of cod
in their fish fingers. The restaurant
chain Las Iguanas also removed redrated prawns from its sourcing list.

Following MCS campaigning with the
Sustainable Restaurant Association,
1,051 restaurants signed up to
remove red-rated seafood from their
menus.

For farmed fish, MCS raised awareness
amongst European seafood buyers
about the Global Aquaculture
Alliance Best Aquaculture Practices
standards.

MCS worked closely with organic
food suppliers Abel & Cole on writing
their sustainable fish sourcing policy,
resulting in them recommitting to
avoiding red-rated seafood. Two
large catering and supply businesses,
CH&Co and Bidfood, also committed
to removing red-rated seafood.

As part of a new MCS initiative to
promote our ratings and those who
use them, we launched the Wall
of Fame on the Good Fish Guide
website, displaying logos of 56
businesses that use our ratings to
inform their work or buying decisions.
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Products are designed so that they
do not end up in the sea as waste

In tackling the problem of plastics
and other marine pollution
we worked hard to influence
manufacturers and supply chains to
reduce the amount of packaging and
increase the level of recycling.
MCS played an integral part in
numerous collaborations with other
NGOs to address marine plastic
pollution this year. We also had direct
contact with the major supermarket
chains, drinks manufacturers and
food suppliers.
Beachwatch data was used by
partners to successfully campaign for
Sainsbury’s to switch to paper stems
for their own-brand cotton bud sticks
and make their labelling clearer to
instruct consumers not to flush them.
UK pub chain Wetherspoon
announced they would stop using

plastic straws across their 900 pubs
in the UK and Republic of Ireland
by the end of the year, and would
switch to paper straws. This was
not the direct result of MCS work,
but coincided with plans to launch
our own campaign on the issue,
allowing us to capitalise on this
momentum.
Supermarket chain Iceland
committed to removing, or drastically
reducing, plastic packaging from its
own-label products by the end of
2023. Waitrose pledged not to sell
any of its own-label food in black
plastic beyond 2019.
We have engaged the public with
a petition targeting the association
of wet wipes producers EDANA to
avoid misleading labelling (that says
‘flushable’).

After achieving our target of 10,000
petition signatures, showing
overwhelming public support for
clearer labelling on wet wipes,
MCS continued work with water
companies to tackle unflushables
– products not suitable for disposal
in toilets. This includes launching
a partnership with Anglian Water.
Water companies have also
produced and updated a draft
standard for flushability in response
to MCS advice.
Following direct liaison with MCS,
Sainsbury’s has reviewed all products
which could be flushed by the
public and plans to redesign their
packaging to prominently show the
‘Don’t Flush’ logo.

SUSTAINABLE ECONOMY
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THE NEED FOR A ROBUST
AND COMPELLING
EVIDENCE BASE

An SNH diver surveying flameshell habitat
coverage on Loch Carron’s seabed © Rob Cook/SNH

A robust and compelling evidence base is essential. Currently, there
is often insufficient data or scientific research on many ocean related
issues. This can make it harder to convince and persuade governments,
public authorities, businesses and the public to support policy asks,
which need to ensure the following are included:
Marine ecosystems are monitored
effectively to deliver data showing
change in ecosystem health.
People are actively engaged in
effective and robust marine citizen
science, including Seasearch and other
programmes, to deliver some of the
data required to identify places worthy
of protection and/or recovery and to
measure marine ecosystem health.
Supply chain, entry pathways and
decomposition of litter and pollution in
our seas are analysed and understood.
Impacts of marine litter and pollution on
sensitive ecosystems are monitored and
litter on our beaches is surveyed and
reported to government, business and
the public.
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Acceptable levels of impact and
‘sustainability’ are defined and widely
supported for both wild capture and
farmed seafood production, based on
the precautionary approach.
Key knowledge gaps on fish stocks
and fisheries are identified and filled,
and the information is shared and used
(e.g. on stocks, food webs, catch and
landing date).
All exploited stocks are ‘data rich’ – not
only those of economic interest.
Climate change, pollution and other
impacts on fisheries and aquaculture
operations are understood.
Key economic and social drivers of
impacts on the marine environment are
understood.

EVIDENCE BASE
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1

Seasearch Diver © Rob Spray

Sand Bay GBBC © Natasha Ewins

CoCoast surveyors © CoCoast

Inspection of a salmon farms’ stock © Marine Harvest

A green turtle cruises the shallow inshore waters
of the Turks and Caicos Islands © Peter Richardson
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Final glimpse of seaweed © Alan Glicksman

Underwater – Seasearch

Last year Seasearch, the volunteer
dive programme run by MCS
together with Wildlife Trusts, put
more dive effort into surveying
existing and proposed marine
protected areas so that data could
inform decisions by government
bodies on site designation and
management. Nine Seasearch survey
reports on marine conservation zone
features were submitted to Natural
England, bolstering the evidence
base for designation of new sites.
Seasearch won the 2017 John Sawyer
National Biodiversity Network (NBN)
Open Data Award. In addition,
Seasearch North-East England
Coordinator Paula Lightfoot won the
NBN David Robertson Adult Award.
Our science has also demonstrated
the impact of our work. As a direct
result of the revised approach to
Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
management, driven in part by
MCS, our joint project studying
the Eddystone Reef SAC indicates
some recovery following closures to
bottom-towed fishing gear.

2

Beach Litter

Effective data management is
hugely important. MCS designed
and administers the database that
all OSPAR countries use to input
monitoring data from around NE
Europe. MCS is also a member of the
MSFD Technical Group on Marine
Litter which is in the process of
developing a standardised list of
marine litter items. This will enable
consistent reporting of marine
litter across countries, so helping
to identify problems that need
international action.

3

CoCoast

MCS was one of seven hubs around
the UK gathering vital coastline data
as part of the three year ‘Capturing
our Coast’ (CoCoast) ‘citizen science’
programme. The project was led by
Newcastle University and funded
by the Heritage Lottery Fund and
the MCS-hosted CoCoast Bristol
hub was managed by Dr Leonie
Richardson.
The project trained up an army
of citizen scientists – people who
may have no scientific training but
who help gather vital information
following training from experts – to
help create a real time picture of
what is happening on our coasts.
UK-wide, over 4,000 volunteers
registered and in excess of 2,000 had
been trained by the halfway point of
the programme in 2017.
Amongst the highlights of the
programme was ‘Spermwatch’,
where members of the public were
asked to record lugworm activity
on UK beaches – these burrowing
creatures release sperm which
collects in ‘puddles’ on the surface
of the beach. The ‘Marine Invaders’
campaign recorded the extent to
which non-native marine species
are present on UK shores to gauge
their impact.
Information collected is uploaded to
the National Biodiversity Network,
contributing to a valuable and
accessible dataset.
Following initial training, volunteers
can survey where and when they
want. The team offer regular field
sessions and quarterly #CoCoastUnite
national survey days enabling
volunteers to hone species ID and
survey skills. By 2017 over 865 surveys
had been completed equating to
over 100,000 data entry points!

4

Aquaculture

New risks to the marine environment
are emerging each year. Aquaculture
is a developing industry which is
throwing up new challenges and
requires careful management. Our
technical experts on aquaculture
provided key advice to the
Aquaculture Stewardship Council on
data collection and sharing, and on
specific issues such as procurement
of cleaner fish.

5

Turtle Tags

Internationally, our scientists
undertook two expeditions last year
to satellite tag turtles in the Turks and
Caicos Islands. We are working with
the University of Exeter to analyse the
data and determine what it means
for management of marine protected
areas in the region, and for the
protection of the turtles.

6

Big Seaweed Search

MCS also joined forces with the
Natural History Museum to launch
the Big Seaweed Search. Seaweed
extracts are used in many household
products and foods, but with sea
temperatures increasing, sea levels
rising and the ocean becoming more
acidic, seaweeds are being impacted.
The aim of the project is to try to
establish why seaweed around the
UK is changing.
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Great British Beach Clean 2017 – The Results

1
49

to 2016.

7%

1,588

339

84

6

Number of
beaches cleaned

111

179

New data reveal a 10% rise in beach litter,
with eating and drinking litter accounting
for up to 20% of all rubbish found on beaches

How much?
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WE’RE USING THE OUTDOORS
AS ONE BIG DUSTBIN
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Average number of
litter items per 100m

On average in the UK,
718 litter items were

6,944

INFOGRAPHICS BY EMLYN MILES

13 %

% increase or decrease
in litter since 2016

25

What did we find?

11 %

Number of volunteers

249

Here are the top 10 items that were found
during the Great British Beach Clean 2017.

26 %
18

1

Where did it come from?

Medical 0.2%

Non-sourced 46.2%

Not very nice – pill
packets to syringes.

Hard to know where it’s
from – mainly because
it’s too tiny to identify.

Fly-tipped 1%
Big stuff like TVs and tyres.

Fishing 10.8%

Shipping 2.9%

All the things from lobster
pots to fishing nets, that
help anglers and commercial
fishermen catch seafood.

Stuff lost, or thrown
overboard from small
craft or massive ships.

SRD 8.5%

Public 30.4%
All the stuff that we, the public,
have a hand in helping get
to the beach.

Sewage Related Debris is stuff
that’s flushed down the loo but
should go in the bin.

And for 2018
Together we’ve been cleaning and surveying beaches for nearly 25 years!
In 2018 we’ll be celebrating a quarter of a century of Great British Beach Cleans.
We’ll be in touch about how you can get involved and help to make our 25th
year really special!

14–17 September 2018
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CASE STUDIES

Make sure you save the dates!
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Plastic / polystyrene pieces (0–50 cm)

225.3/100m

2

Packets (crisp, sweet, lolly, sandwich)

3

Glass

4

Cigarette stubs

5

Caps & lids

6

String / cord (thickness 0–1 cm)

7

Wet wipes

8

Cotton bud sticks

9

Fishing line

10

42.3/100m
40.4/100m
34.5/100m
32.9/100m
31/100m

27.4/100m
26.9/100m
18/100m







ò

ò









Cutlery / trays / straws

15.1/100m



Plastic pieces, Caps & lids, straws © Natasha Ewins; Cigarette stubs, Packets © Richard Harrington; String © Hilary Nelson; Cotton bud sticks © B Chapman / KWT; Glass © Laura Foster; Wet wipes © Rachel Stephens; Fishing line © Jacki Clark; Plastic bottles © MCS
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We’re using the great outdoors as a huge
dustbin and much of this ‘on the go’ litter is
ending up in the sea and on our beaches. The Great
British Beach Clean is the UK’s largest and most
influential national clean up and survey of Britain’s
beaches. All items found are registered according to
an internationally agreed methodology. The 2017
event saw 6,944 volunteer beach cleaners pick up
record amounts of litter over four days from 339 UK
beaches – a staggering 718 bits of rubbish from
every 100 metres cleaned. It’s a 10% rise in the
amount of beach litter picked up compared to 2016.
Tiny bits of plastic and polystyrene were once again
top of our list of finds in 2017, but it’s the ones that
come immediately below that perhaps have a better story to tell and a real opportunity to fix them.
Wet wipes, dog poo bags, bottles and plastic bags
have all resulted in successful campaigns for MCS
and other organisations with whom we work. But
the 2017 figures have revealed a whole swathe of

items that need to be tackled. This year’s Great British Beach Clean survey data has revealed that litter
from eating and drinking out and about makes up
20% of all the rubbish found on our beaches!

MCS LAUNCHES
AN APPEAL
TO GOVERNMENT:
A LEVY ON SINGLEUSE PLASTIC ITEMS
IS NEEDED NOW

CASE STUDY 1
FROM THE BEACH TO WESTMINSTER
A sample from our magazine

THE INTERNATIONAL
COASTAL CLEAN UP
MCS is the UK representative for the International
Coastal Clean Up. In 2016, across 112 countries
around the world, volunteers, site captains, state
and county coordinators worked tirelessly to
collect over 18 million pounds of trash. The ICC
covered enough miles of coastline to walk around
the moon twice. Volunteers have collected enough
balloons to lift a 2,200 lb. walrus and enough
fishing line to reach the bottom of the Mariana
Trench – the ocean’s deepest point – nine times
over. For more than 30 years, volunteers across
the world have come together to become a global
force for good.

We are talking about cups, plastic cutlery, foil
wrappers, straws, sandwich packets, lolly sticks,
plastic bottles, drinks cans, glass bottles, plastic
cups, lids and stirrers. 138 pieces of this type of
litter were found, on average, per 100m of all the
beaches cleaned and surveyed by our volunteers.
This revelation comes as millions of people switch
on to Sir David Attenborough and Blue Planet II,
marvelling at the stunning array of fish, walruses
and rays, and a feeling of undying love for the
ocean. But it seems that many of us still go on to
pick up a coffee in a one-use cup, with a plastic
lid and stirrer, or a fizzy drink with a straw, without making the connection between what’s in our
hands and, later, in our seas.

504,583
people

14,997 miles
24,136 km

8,346,055
18,399,900
13,840,398
items of litter

The Great British Beach Clean 2017 saw the
highest number of volunteers ever taking part in
the annual nationwide event – just over 7,000.
The volunteers picked up record amounts of
litter from 339 beaches – more than ever before.
The results were published on 1 December 2017.
We immediately launched an appeal to the
Government to impose a levy on disposable,
single-use plastic items including drinks cups,
plastic cutlery, foil wrappers, straws, sandwich
packets, lolly sticks, plastic bottles, drinks cans,
glass bottles, plastic cups, lids and stirrers.

EVIDENCE BASE
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SECURING THE MEANS
To maximise our impact in the long term, we need to increase our
income and our profile, based on a foundation of resilient, sustainable
and diverse income streams, a strong reputation amongst funders
and supporters, and clear and engaging communications that inspire
support and secure funds. To this end:
A large percentage of income is
unrestricted.
A new and compelling membership
model has been introduced that convinces
the public to support MCS financially.
A substantial individual giving base has
been developed off the back of our
higher profile campaigns and appeals.

Profile-raising measures have increased
both prompted and spontaneous
awareness significantly.
Strong relationships exist with partner
organisations and funders and MCS’s
reputation as an effective, impactful
organisation is high.
High profile businesses, individuals and
celebrities are proud to support MCS.

A nationwide team of face-toface recruiters is in place to grow
membership and MCS profile.

In the next five years, we will aim to double our fundraising
income and membership to significantly increase spontaneous,
semi-prompted and prompted awareness of MCS (as measured
by nfpSynergy) and MCS impact and innovation, including through:
A nationwide network of face-to-face
fundraisers managed by an external
agency.
Regular free first year membership
offers, converting a high proportion into
regular paying members.
Converting the growing pipeline of
non-financial supporters generated by
campaigns into members and donors.
Promotions increasingly targeted at key
new audience groups.
Using our large volunteer network to
recruit members at beach cleans and
other key events.
An increased coastal presence through
collaboration / partnerships at strategic
locations.
Developing a compelling narrative/
story/message that makes the public
wish to support MCS.
Developing new income-generating
products.
Developing wider marketing initiatives,
including regular videos showcasing
impactful work.
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A growing number of active high
profile/celebrity supporters (Ocean
Ambassadors).
Building partnerships and collaborations
that extend reach and profile.
Regular financial appeals, particularly via
digital channels reaching new audiences.
Increasing income from trusts and
grants and developing major HLF and
other lottery applications and overseas
grant applications.
Corporate fundraising focus on large
strategic partnerships where both
parties’ visions align.
Increasing the prospect pool and base
of major gift funders and nurturing
them via selected events, individual
donor care plans and access to
compelling cases for support.
Growing our programme of Challenge
events to entice community fundraising
support.
Investing in legacy giving, building the
number and quality of enquirers and
pledgers.

Basking shark © www.frogfishphotography.com
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1

Budleigh Salterton GBBC © Natasha Ewins

Increasing
fundraising income

MCS receives no government
funding, and every penny we
spend is raised through voluntary
donations and fundraising. This year
we exceeded our income generation
targets for commercial participation,
restricted and unrestricted trusts
and grants funding, legacies and in
memoriam donations, and individual
and community fundraising.
We developed new ways to partner
with businesses and build long
term relationships with mutual
benefits, such as engaging company
employees through volunteer
activities. We cultivated relationships
with individual trusts and foundations,
ensuring our programme funding
needs were more clearly stated.
We invested resources in legacy
marketing, sowing the seeds for
future pledgers and legators. We
provided more support to individual
fundraisers through Challenge events
and improved online resources.

2

Building Major
Gift programme

We continued to develop the
Major Gift programme, started the
previous year, further cultivating key
relationships, writing strong ‘cases
for support’ and securing our first
significant donations. We entertained
key supporters at a number of events
held throughout the year. These
included a 'Highland to Island' dinner
hosted by our corporate partner,
Glenmorangie, in Edinburgh and a
number of basking shark boat trips
hosted by our Ocean Ambassadors.

3
DEBORAH MEADEN
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IOLO WILLIAMS
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SHARRON DAVIES

LIZZIE DALY

Growing our membership
and unrestricted income

Capitalising on the successful BBC’s
Blue Planet II programme, we ran
a free first year membership offer
during November and December

2017, which attracted nearly 3,000
new members. In addition, we
appointed an external membership
face-to-face agency for the first time
who will attend shows and events,
particularly in South East England.
The membership section of the
MCS website has undergone further
developments during the year with
a stronger supporter ‘journey’, better
incentives and cash facts, and online
sign-up volumes and values have
steadily risen. During the next period
we expect to further enhance and
improve the online experience for all
our members and supporters.
This year saw a steady growth in
regular supporter numbers which
now stands at 7,150, including 755
subscribers to our Adopt-a-Turtle
and Adopt-a-Seahorse schemes
(plus 3,000 free members). It is very
encouraging that we continue to
attract new supporters who are as
passionate about marine wildlife as
we are and who choose to show their
support through MCS membership.
Members are very much the
backbone of the organisation with
whom we have been able to achieve
so much for our marine environment
during the year. Thank you for
supporting MCS.

4

New Ocean
Ambassadors

During 2017/18 we added four new
high profile Ocean Ambassadors
to the programme we started in
2016/17: entrepreneur and Dragons’
Den star Deborah Meaden, Olympic
swimming champion Sharron
Davies MBE, Welsh TV presenter and
naturalist Iolo Williams, and TV and
wildlife presenter Lizzie Daly. Our
Ocean Ambassadors are all people
who are in the public eye and
passionate about wanting to help
protect our seas, shores and marine
wildlife. They support MCS in a variety
of ways and help to broaden our
audience through their extensive and
influential networks, for which we are
extremely grateful.
SECURING THE MEANS

47

Ecoffee Cup © MCS

Cramond beach clean © MCS

CASE STUDY 1
ONLINE SHOP

CASE STUDY 4
PEOPLE’S POSTCODE LOTTERY

We have continued to develop the MCS online shop,
introducing a widened range of products free from
plastics in a ‘Plastic-free Living’ section. We have
introduced the bamboo fibre Ecoffee cup, wax food
wraps and toiletries. Additionally, with the launch of
our top selling book How to Live Plastic Free, customers
have been provided with the information to successfully
reduce their consumption of single-use plastics on an
everyday basis.

The long term, unrestricted nature of the funding we
receive from People’s Postcode Lottery has given us the
flexibility to invest in both our capacity and capability. It
also provides crucial leverage to attract other sources of
‘match’ funding. Our relationship with People’s Postcode
Lottery extends beyond just financial support: we have
used their community of charities to help us strike up
some exciting collaborations. We have made connections
with the Ellen MacArthur Cancer Trust, Whizz-Kidz,
and in July 2017 we partnered with the National Trust,
committing to combine our efforts to engage a wider
audience, influence government policy and promote the
development of sustainable fisheries.

CASE STUDY 2
OUT AND ABOUT
Attending events and shows across the country
continued to be a focus for the Marketing and
Engagement teams. We attended 20 events including the
Tall Ships Festival in Greenwich; the Green Man Festival
in Brecon; the Great Northern Dive Show in Manchester
plus a range of food, music, nature and marine-themed
events. We also continued our partnership with the
Ocean Film Festival UK Tour which helped broaden our
reach to new audiences.

CASE STUDY 5
PRINCESS YACHTS LTD

Slough river clean, with Thames 21 on 19 April 2018 © MCS

CASE STUDY 3
WAITROSE
In 2017, Waitrose donated £500,000 from their carrier
bag fund to set up the annual Waitrose Beach &
River Clean-Up with MCS. This generous contribution
transformed our Beachwatch programme and enabled us
to help organise 1,000 beach and river clean-up events
during the year. With the funding we were able to grow
our capacity to involve over 7,000 volunteers in the Great
British Beach Clean 2017, increase our total beach clean
volunteers to over 13,000 and work with twice as many
schools across the country compared to 2016.
As a core part of the programme we were also able to
engage Waitrose Partners (employees) and customers
as well as reach a wider audience with our engagement
work – the Waitrose Beach & River Clean-Up, covered in
203 news items, reached audiences of nearly 115 million.
The partnership with Waitrose continues into 2018 and
2019, with Waitrose committing a further £500,000
towards the joint Beach & River Clean-Up, and supporting
the 25th anniversary of the Great British Beach Clean.

48

CASE STUDIES

ANNUAL IMPACT REPORT & ACCOUNTS 2017–18

Beach-clean workshop in Clackton, 24 April 2018 © Beefly films

Based in Plymouth, Princess Yachts is very passionate
about protecting the marine environment. As well as
encouraging support from its customers and partners
around the world, Princess doubled its financial
contribution this year and donated over £44,000 to
projects protecting the seas around its HQ in Plymouth.
The company’s generosity has continued to fund our
innovative Eddystone Reef project, which monitors the
delicate reef’s recovery following an MCS-led dredging
ban in 2013, and has pump-primed a 2018 seagrass
eco-mooring project in Cawsand Bay. Princess Yachts is
a long term committed corporate partner, and as our
partnership grows, support for our seas amongst the
boating communities increases.

CASE STUDY 6
THE TABOR CHARITABLE TRUST
Our education programme is a leader in UK marine
education, and caught the eye of the Tabor Charitable
Trust as the perfect way to support two of their greatest
passions – educating the next generation, and protecting
the marine environment that Bob, a founding trustee, and
his family have enjoyed as generations of keen sailors. The
trustees, Robert West, Bob Tabor and Bea Tabor, spent the
day with our education managers to find out about our
ambitious ocean literacy plans, and our award winning
Cool Seas programme for schools. The Trust has since
committed £30,000, paid over three years, to our core
education programme.

SECURING THE MEANS
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overview

DURING THE YEAR WE RAISED £2.7M INCOME, AN INCREASE OF 11% COMPARED WITH THE PREVIOUS
YEAR. THIS, TOGETHER WITH SOME INVESTMENT FROM OUR FINANCIAL RESERVES, ENABLED US
TO SPEND £3.1M. 79% OF THIS FUNDED OUR CONSERVATION PROGRAMMES, WITH THE REMAINDER
INVESTED IN RAISING FURTHER FUNDS AND SUPPORTING A GROWTH IN OUR MEMBERSHIP BASE.

Income and expenditure

was spent on our science programmes including
Seasearch and our fish ratings work. £297k funded
our projects promoting a sustainable and equitable
economy. To maintain and continue to grow our
income, we spent £668k on raising funds, a modest 3%
increase on the previous year.
In 2016/17 our investment portfolio generated gains of
£95k, but during 2017/18 market performance was not
as strong and we suffered a small loss.

Membership subscriptions provided income of
£429k, a rise of 23%, whilst legacies and donations
from individuals, trusts and companies contributed a
significant £1,418k. The single biggest donation was
£600k from the People’s Postcode Lottery. Grants of
£411k funded specific conservation projects and, whilst
this was a decrease on the previous year, the income
raised through the organisation of beach cleans grew
significantly to £424k owing to Waitrose’s support
of the Great British Beach Clean. Moderate sales and
investment income brought total income to £2,741k.

Funds

We spent £2,470k during the year on our charitable
activities. The largest amount, £807k, was spent on
our programmes aimed at generating individual
behaviour change. This was a 7% increase compared
with the previous year, owing to the increased beach
cleaning activity funded by Waitrose and People’s
Postcode Lottery. Almost as much, £783k, was spent
on promoting good governance. This was a reduction
compared with 2016/17, as that year saw a particularly
high level of work on marine protection areas. £583k

We have a number of restricted funds where the donor
restricts the purpose for which the fund can be used.
These funds decreased by £180k to £350k, as we spent
some funds that had been donated in the previous year.
We ended the year with total unrestricted funds of
£1,114k, a decrease of £242k compared with the
previous year. We are committed to putting our income
and financial reserves to work as soon as possible,
whilst holding financial reserves sufficient to maintain
our conservation programmes in the event of a shortfall

in income, until further funding can be secured. We
have set aside four months unrestricted operating costs
in a designated contingency fund currently estimated
at £785k, and we review the level of this fund regularly.
The remaining unrestricted funds are held within our
general reserves of £329k available to support our
plans for growth over the coming year.

Investment policy
In 2011 we invested £500k in a long term charity
investment account with HSBC in order to make best
use of the investment opportunities for the charity’s
financial reserves. At 31 March 2018 the market
value of this fund was £739k. We have instructed
those managing the fund to avoid investments in
companies whose principal activities are in conflict
with our aims and objectives. We are fully committed
to having a robust ethical investment policy and we
will be reviewing our holdings in the coming year to
ensure this is the case.

Risk management
The trustees, through the Finance, Resources and
Risk Committee, oversee a formal risk management
process, periodically reviewing the risks the charity
faces, prioritising them and, where possible,
identifying means of mitigating them. We consider
external factors such as the economy and the impact
of new regulations.
We ensure there is a sound system of internal control
to safeguard the charity’s assets and funds and ensure
these assets and funds are used only in furtherance of
the charity’s objectives.
The systems of internal control are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material loss or misuse, and include delegation of
authority and segregation of duties.
Trustees approve a five-year financial plan and
an annual budget, then review progress regularly
against the annual budget and relevant non-financial
performance indicators.
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Structure, governance
and management

Governing document
The charity is a charitable company limited by
guarantee, incorporated on 23 October 1990 and
registered as a charity on 1 February 1984. It is
governed by Articles of Association, having been
amended following approval by the members on 21
April 2010. In the event of the company being wound
up each member is required to contribute an amount
not exceeding £1.

Public benefit
The trustees confirm that they have complied with
the duty in Section 4, Charities Act 2011, to have
due regard to the guidance issued by the Charity
Commission concerning public benefit.
MCS exists to protect and champion the marine and
coastal environment for the public benefit. We promote
the protection of marine wildlife, sustainable fisheries
and aquaculture and clean seas and beaches, through
projects, scientific research, education and publication
of scientific and educational works.

Each of our programmes is aimed at improving the
condition of the marine environment. A healthy marine
environment will supply benefits to the public.
During 2017/18 the charity promoted interest
and learning on the marine environment through
its dedicated Cool Seas outreach and education
programme and inspired action at the local level
through delivery of its Sea Champions volunteer and
community engagement programme.
The MCS Good Fish Guide website, app and pocket
guide have reached many hundreds of thousands of
customers interested in sustainability. The flagship
event of the clean seas and beaches programme, the
annual Autumn Great British Beach Clean, attracted a
record number of volunteers.

Pay and remuneration of key
management and personnel
We operate a salaries and benefits policy that
applies equally to all employees of the charity. Tests
are conducted for bias, fairness and equality and

a moderation process is undertaken to ensure a
consistent approach to performance ratings. Each year,
remuneration awards are recommended by the Finance,
Resources and Risk Committee to the Board for approval.

new trustees with the appropriate skills by open
advertisement or approaching individuals to offer
themselves for election. Business and conservation
skills are well represented amongst the trustees.

Recruitment and appointment of trustees

Trustee induction and training

Whilst the day to day management of the charity
is delegated to the Senior Management Team, the
trustees are responsible for setting the charity’s
strategic policies and objectives and for ensuring they
are fulfilled. Trustees are volunteers, give freely of their
time and have no beneficial interest in the charity.
Trustee indemnity insurance is provided.
As set out in our Articles of Association, trustees step
down by rotation every three years. They may offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting, but the total duration of each
Trustee’s tenure is limited in order to ensure there are
opportunities for new trustees to join the Board.
The Board of Trustees undertakes an annual review
of its effectiveness. To ensure the Board is sufficiently
skilled to carry out its responsibilities we carry out
skills analysis of existing members before seeking

Prior to appointment, new trustees receive an induction
to introduce themselves to the work of the charity and
attend a Board meeting as an observer. Each trustee is
given a Trustee Handbook which provides current good
practice guidance on how they can contribute most
effectively to the charity. All trustees are required to
sign up to a Trustees’ Code of Conduct.

Committees
To assist the Board with detailed scrutiny of particular
topics and to make recommendations on those
topics to the Board, we operate a number of Trustee
subcommittees. The committees were reviewed during
the year, and going forward there will be the following:
x
x
x
x
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Governance and Nominations Committee;
Finance, Resources and Risk Committee;
Environment Committee;
Income, Impact and Profile Committee.
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Trustees’ responsibilities
in relation to the financial statements
The trustees (who are also directors of MCS for
the purposes of company law) are responsible for
preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

x

x

x

x

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial
statements for each financial year, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company
and of the incoming resources and application of
resources, including the income and expenditure, of the
charitable company for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the trustees are required to

x

select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in the Charities
SORP 2015 (FRS 102);
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the charitable company will continue in
operation.

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that disclose, with reasonable
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the
charitable company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
charitable company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the charitable company’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

In so far as the trustees are aware

By order of the Board of Trustees.

x

x
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there is no relevant audit information of which the
charitable company’s auditor is unaware; and
the trustees have taken all steps that they ought
to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
auditor is aware of that information.

This trustees’ report and strategic impact report
have been prepared in accordance with the special
provisions of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006
relating to small companies.

Tara Aldwin
Treasurer

Hugh Raven
Chairman

12 September 2018
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Independent
Auditor’s Report
to the Trustees
and Members of Marine
Conservation Society
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Marine
Conservation Society (the ‘charitable company’) for
the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the
Statement of Financial Activities (including income
and expenditure account), the Balance Sheet, Cashflow
Statement and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006, and to
the charitable company’s trustees, as a body, in
accordance with Regulation 10 of the Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the charitable company’s members and trustees
those matters we are required to state to them in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
charitable company, the charitable company’s
members as a body and the charitable company’s
trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.
In our opinion the financial statements
x

x

56

give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable
company’s affairs as at 31 March 2018, and of its
incoming resources and application of resources,
including its income and expenditure, for the year
then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

x

have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005
and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the
‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of the charitable company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where
x

the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information
included in the Trustees’ Annual Report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement
in the financial statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed
by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit
x

x

the trustees have not disclosed in the financial
statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the charitable
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
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x

the information given in the trustees’ report
(incorporating the strategic report and the directors’
report) for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and
the directors’ report has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required
to report by exception
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of
the charitable company and its environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified
material misstatements in the strategic report and the
directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006
require us to report to you if, in our opinion,
x

x

x

x

adequate and proper accounting records have not
been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities
statement set out on page 54, the trustees (who are also
the directors of the charitable company for the purposes
of company law) are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are
responsible for assessing the charitable company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements

x

We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)
(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland)
Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report
in accordance with regulations made under those Acts.
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK),
we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also
x

x

x
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error; design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the charitable company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the trustees.

x

Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the charitable
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the charitable company to cease to continue
as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, amongst other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Robert Iestyn Richards
FCA, CTA, FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
Thorneloe House
25 Barbourne Road
Worcester, WR1 1RU
Date:
For, and on behalf of, The Richards Sandy Partnership
Ltd, Statutory Auditors.
The Richards Sandy Partnership Ltd is eligible to act as
an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies
Act 2006.
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FINANCIAL statements

MARINE CONSERVATION SOCIETY
Statement of financial activities for the year ended 31 March 2018

MARINE CONSERVATION SOCIETY
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018

(incorporating income and expenditure account)

Note

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
Income from
Donations and legacies
Charitable activities
Other trading activities
Investments

Unrestricted
Funds (£)

1
2
3

Total income
Expenditure on
Raising funds
Charitable activities:
Good governance
Individual behaviour change
Sustainable and equitable economy
Science

4

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

1,751,294
435,734
19,053
28,177

95,129
411,784
-

1,846,423
847,518
19,053
28,177

1,790,217
607,922
9,256
52,974

2,234,258

506,913

2,741,171

2,460,369

668,499

-

668,499

650,266

533,712
591,615
221,386
371,897

248,941
215,620
76,101
210,859

782,653
807,235
297,487
582,756

1,064,976
751,443
256,790
513,583

Total expenditure

2,387,109

751,521

3,138,630

3,237,058

Net (expenditure) and net movement in funds for the
year before other recognised gains/(losses) and transfers
Net (losses)/gains on investment assets
Other (losses)/gains
Net (expenditure)
Transfers between funds

(152,851)
(20,591)
(3,650)
(177,092)
(64,679)

(244,608)
(244,608)
64,679

(397,459)
(20,591)
(3,650)
(421,700)
-

(776,689)
95,142
4,438
(677,109)
-

Net movement of funds

(241,771)

(179,929)

(421,700)

(677,109)

Funds at the start of the year

1,355,929

529,597

1,885,526

2,562,635

1,114,158

349,668

1,463,826

1,885,526

Funds at the end of the year

5
5
5
5

Restricted
Funds (£)

13

18

18

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All incoming resources and resources expended derive from continuing activities.

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Stock
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Note

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

12
13

7,331
738,884

13,337
768,746

746,215

782,083

7,491
295,622
869,981

294,133
1,006,069

1,173,094

1,300,202

(446,944)

(192,759)

726,150
1,472,365

1,107,443
1,889,526

(8,539)

(4,000)

1,463,826

1,885,526

329,479
784,679
349,668

931,879
424,050
529,597

1,463,826

1,885,526

14
15

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

16

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities

20

Net assets
Funds of the charity
Unrestricted funds:
General fund
Designated funds (contingency fund)
Restricted funds

17
17
17

Total charity funds

The trustees have prepared accounts in accordance with section 398 of the Companies Act 2006 and section 44 of the Charities
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. These accounts are prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of
the Companies Act relating to small companies and constitute the annual accounts required by the Companies Act 2006 and are
for circulation to members of the company. Approved by the Board of Trustees on 12 September 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Tara Aldwin
Treasurer

Hugh Raven
Chairman

Company Number: 2550966
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MARINE CONSERVATION SOCIETY
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in) operations

Investing activities
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Purchase of listed investments
Proceeds from sale of investments

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Note

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

22

(143,891)

(782,318)

12
13a
13a

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland to charities preparing
their accounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard FRS 102, the Companies Act 2006,
the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006
and the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland)
Act 2005. Assets and liabilities are initially recognised
at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise
stated in the relevant accounting policy note(s).

(1,468)
(247,840)
257,111

(6,859)
(301,097)
266,418

7,803

(41,538)

(136,088)
1,006,069

(823,856)
1,829,925

The trustees are confident that the level of unrestricted
reserves and income means that there are no material
uncertainties about the charity’s ability to continue. The
accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

869,981

1,006,069

Incoming resources

When donors specify that donations and grants
given to the charity must be used in future
accounting periods, the income is deferred until
those periods.
When donors impose conditions which have to
be qualified before the charity becomes entitled
to use such income, the income is deferred and
not included in incoming resources until the preconditions for use have been met.
When donors specify that donations and grants,
including capital grants, are for particular restricted
purposes, which do not amount to pre-conditions
regarding entitlement, this income is included
in incoming resources of restricted funds when
receivable.
x

Income is recognised in the period in which the
charitable company is entitled to receipt, there is
certainty of receipt and the amount can be measured
reliably. Income is deferred when the charity has to
fulfil conditions before becoming entitled to use such
income or where the donor has specified that the
income is to be expended in a future period.
Membership income and other donations from
individuals and income from lotteries is recognised
upon receipt. Any life membership subscriptions are
accounted for in the year in which they are received.
x

x
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Commercial trading activities
Income from commercial activities is included in the
period in which the charity is entitled to receipt.
Donations and grants
Income from donations and grants, including capital
grants, is included in incoming resources when it is
receivable, except as follows:

x

Legacies
Legacies are included when the charity is advised
by the personal representative of an estate that
payment will be made or property transferred
and the amount involved can be quantified with
reasonable certainty.
Donated facilities and professional services
Donated facilities and donated professional
services are recognised in income at their fair
value when their economic benefit is probable,
it can be measured reliably and the charity has
control over the item. Fair value is determined on
the basis of the value of the gift to the charity, for
example the amount the charity would be willing
to pay in the open market for such facilities and
services. A corresponding amount is recognised in
expenditure.

No amount is included in the financial statements for
volunteer time in line with the Charities SORP (FRS 102).
Further detail is given in the Trustees’ Annual Report.
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Resources expended

Tangible fixed assets

Debtors and cash

Expenditure is included when incurred on an accruals
basis. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to
particular headings they have been allocated to
activities on a basis consistent with use of resources.

All assets costing more than £1,000 are capitalised.
Depreciation is provided at the following rates in order
to write off each asset over its estimated useful life:

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the
settlement amount due. Prepayments are valued at
the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk
to changes in value.

x

x

x

x

x
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Costs of generating and servicing membership
subscriptions
These represent costs incurred in encouraging
individuals to subscribe to the charity and the
servicing of those individuals including provision of
a members’ magazine.
Costs of raising donations and legacies
Fundraising expenditure comprises costs incurred in
encouraging people and organisations to contribute
financially to the charity’s work through donations
and grants. This includes a proportion of salaries and
overhead costs of the staff who promote fundraising.
Commercial trading costs
These represent costs incurred in raising funds
through the online shop.
Expenditure on charitable activities
These represent costs incurred in activities aimed
at achieving the charity’s four strategic outcomes
of good governance, individual behaviour change,
a sustainable and equitable economy and science.
The costs include the salary costs of those working
directly on these activities, other direct costs such as
equipment and travel costs and a share of support
costs. Where an activity is aimed at achieving more
than one outcome, the costs are allocated out
between the relevant outcomes.
Support costs (including governance)
Support costs are those costs that, whilst necessary
to deliver an activity, do not themselves constitute
the output of the charitable activity. These
include office costs, the cost of administration and
governance such as the audit fee and insurance.
These are allocated to all activities (charitable and
raising funds) on the basis of the number of full time
equivalent staff employed within each activity.
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x

Fixtures and fittings 15% to 20% on cost

x

Computers and equipment 25% to 33.3% on cost

Investments
Listed investments are valued in the statement of
financial position at fair value. The Statement of
Financial Activities does not distinguish between the
valuation adjustments relating to sales and those
relating to continued holdings as they are together
treated as changes in the value of the investment
portfolio throughout the year.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable
value.

Financial instruments

Funds held by the charity are
x

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the
charity has a present obligation resulting from a past
event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to
a third party and the amount due to settle the obligation
can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and
provisions are normally recognised at their settlement
amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

x

Operating leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the
Statement of Financial Activities on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease.

Pensions

Foreign currency transactions are initially recognised
by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot
exchange rate between the functional currency and the
foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

Tax
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Funds accounting

Creditors and provisions

The charity only has financial assets and financial
liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial
instruments such as trade debtors and creditors with
no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within
one year, which are recorded at transaction price. Any
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the
income statement in other operating expenses.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
a foreign currency at the balance sheet date are
translated using the closing rate.

Where applicable, income is recognised net of any
output Value Added Tax and the cost of irrecoverable
input Value Added Tax is accounted for in the same
period as the expenditure on which it was occurred.

Contributions in respect of the charity’s defined
contribution pension scheme are charged to the
Statement of Financial Activities for the year in which
they are payable to the scheme.

x

Unrestricted general funds
These are funds that can be used in accordance
with the charitable objects at the discretion of the
trustees.
Designated funds
These are funds set aside by the trustees out of
unrestricted general funds for specific purposes or
projects.
Restricted funds
These are funds that can only be used for particular
restricted purposes within the objects of the charity.
Restrictions arise when specified by the donor
or when funds are raised for particular restricted
purposes.

Further explanation of the nature and purpose of
each fund is included in the notes to the financial
statements (note 17).

In terms of corporation tax, the charity is an exempt
charity within the meaning of schedule 3 of the
Charities Act 2011 and is considered to pass the tests
set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010
and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable
company for UK corporation tax purposes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1
Income from donations and legacies

Unrestricted
Funds (£)

Restricted
Funds (£)

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

428,797
55,308
825,968
147,183
294,038

5,439
33,120
56,570

428,797
55,308
831,407
180,303
350,608

348,497
91,017
803,479
114,940
432,284

1,751,294
1,555,320

95,129
234,897

1,846,423
-

1,790,217
1,790,217

Membership subscriptions and adoptions
Legacies
Donations – trusts and companies
Donations – individuals
Royalties, sponsorship and other fundraising income

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Income from companies to carry out beach cleans has been recategorised from donations and other fundraising income to income
from charitable activities, and the 2017 figures have been adjusted accordingly.

2
Income from charitable activities

Unrestricted
Funds (£)

Restricted
Funds (£)

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

423,000
12,734

410,589
1,195
-

410,589
424,195
12,734

529,620
12,170
66,132

Grants
Beach cleans
Education and sales

435,734
13,476

For the year ended 31 March 2017

411,784
594,446

847,518
-

607,922
607,922

Sales include sales of the Good Fish Guide and Seasearch sales.

3
Income from other trading activities

Total Funds
2018 (£)

Online shop

19,053

4
Expenditure on raising funds

Direct staff
costs (£)

Other direct Support costs
costs (£)
(note 6) (£)

Total Funds
2017 (£)

Total
2018 (£)

Total
2017 (£)

144,768
203,724
10,816
-

104,160
81,290
3,478
9,041

43,715
65,732
1,775
-

292,643
350,746
16,069
9,041

270,480
364,929
4,311
10,546

For the year ended 31 March 2017

359,308
383,422

197,969
158,963

111,222
107,881

668,499
-

650,266
650,266
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Direct staff
costs (£)

Good governance
Individual behaviour change
Sustainable and equitable economy
Science

For the year ended 31 March 2017

Other direct Support costs
costs (£)
(note 6) (£)

Total
2018 (£)

Total
2017 (£)

512,635
515,854
176,770
340,327

136,685
151,307
75,794
151,892

133,333
140,074
44,923
90,537

782,653
807,235
297,487
582,756

1,064,976
751,443
256,790
513,583

1,545,586
1,513,276

515,678
657,624

408,867
415,892

2,470,131
-

2,586,792
2,586,792

In order to identify what has been spent on activities in furtherance of the four different outcomes in the strategy, the classification
of charitable activities has been amended; the 2017 figures have been adjusted accordingly. The decrease in expenditure on activities in furtherance of good governance is owing to particularly high expenditure on Marine Protection Areas in 2017, in preparation
for the expected consultation on Marine Protection Zones. With a delay in the consultation, expenditure reduced in 2018. Thanks to
the support from Waitrose and the People’s Postcode Lottery, beach cleaning activity rose in 2018. Most beach cleaning activity is
included within individual behaviour change.

6
Support costs

Costs of generating and
servicing membership
subscriptions
Costs of raising other
donations and legacies
Commercial trading costs
Good governance
Individual behaviour change
Sustainable and equitable
economy
Science

Property &
insurance (£)

Admin staff
costs (£)

Other admin
costs (£)

Unrecovered
VAT (£)

Depreciation
(£)

Total
2018 (£)

Total
2017 (£)

9,936

24,012

7,163

1,976

628

43,715

47,342

14,941
404
30,307
31,839

36,105
973
73,237
76,940

10,771
291
21,848
22,952

2,971
80
6,026
6,331

944
27
1,915
2,012

65,732
1,775
133,333
140,074

60,539
180,726
121,246

10,212
20,579

24,674
49,730

7,360
14,834

2,032
4,091

645
1,303

44,923
90,537

40,453
73,465

118,218

285,671

85,219

23,507

7,474

520,089

523,773

25,281
92,937

61,090
224,581

18,225
66,994

5,027
18,480

1,599
5,875

111,222
408,867

107,881
415,892

118,218

285,671

85,219

23,507

7,474

520,089

523,773

9,256

Costs of generating and servicing membership subscriptions
Costs of raising other donations and legacies
Commercial trading costs
Investment management fees
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5
Expenditure on charitable activities

Analysed between
Raising funds
Charitable activities

Support costs are allocated to activities based on the FTE staff numbers working on those activities.
Property and insurance includes rent, rates and utility costs for all our offices. These costs have increased during the year, with the
opening of a small office in London. Admin staff costs include the salary and associated costs of the Finance, Human Resources and
IT staff as well as the Chief Executive. Other admin costs include postage, stationery, equipment and professional costs such as the
audit fee. MCS is not able to recover all the VAT incurred on its expenditure. Depreciation relates to fixed assets (note 12).
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7
Net incoming resources for the year. This is stated after charging:

Depreciation
Auditor’s remuneration:
audit fees
other services
Equipment rental
Trustees’ liability insurance
Property rental

Total
2018 (£)

Total
2017 (£)

7,474

10,112

6,300
250
1,713
903
77,490

5,850
350
876
986
56,377

The property rental cost above relates to the lease of the head office at Ross-on-Wye as well as licences to occupy small offices in
London and Edinburgh.

10
Pension costs
The charity operates a defined contribution scheme for members of staff. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the charity, being invested with insurance companies. Pension costs charged in the Statement of Financial Activities represent
the contributions payable by the charity in the year. There was £11,526 (2017 – £9,933) accrued at the year-end representing
pension costs payable.
Where restricted income is funding staff costs, the relevant proportion of pension costs is allocated to those funds.

11
Taxation
The company is a registered charity and no provision is considered necessary for taxation.

Fixtures &
fittings (£)

Computers &
equipment (£)

Total
(£)

Cost
At 1 April 2017
Additions at cost
Disposals

36,804
-

82,962
1,468
-

119,766
1,468
-

2,163,031

At 31 March 2018

36,804

84,430

121,234

One employee received emoluments in the band £70,000 to £80,000 (2017 – nil). There were no employees who received emoluments in the band £60,000 to £70,000 (2017 – one). This employee had benefits accruing under an auto-enrolment scheme and
contributions paid during the year totalled £4,568 (2017 – £2,347).
During the year key management received a combined total remuneration of £306,271 (2017 – £271,105).
Six trustees claimed expenses during the year for travel and subsistence, amounting to £2,520 (2017 – £4,410). No trustee received
remuneration during the year (2017 – nil).

Depreciation
At 1 April 2017
Charge for the year
Disposals

30,608
2,253
-

75,822
5,220
-

106,429
7,474
-

At 31 March 2018

32,861

81,042

113,903

3,943
6,196

3,388
7,141

7,331
13,337

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

738,684
200

768,546
200

738,884

768,746

8
Staff costs and trustees’ remuneration

Salaries and wages
Employer’s national insurance contributions
Pension costs

9
Staff numbers

Conservation programmes
Fundraising and servicing membership subscriptions
Administration and support

Total
2018 (£)

Total
2017 (£)

1,900,753
182,887
105,226

1,876,979
181,944
104,108

2,188,866

2018
(average number)

2017
(average number)

47
12
7

40
11
7

66

58

12
Tangible fixed assets

Net Book Value
At 31 March 2018
At 31 March 2017

13
Fixed asset investments

Listed investments (note 13a)
Investments in subsidiaries (note 13b)
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13a
Listed investments

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

Market value
At the start of the year
Purchases during the year
Sales during the year
Realised (losses) / gains
Unrealised (losses) / gains

768,546
247,840
(257,111)
(3,969)
(16,622)

638,725
301,097
(266,418)
25,595
69,547

Market value at the end of the year
Historical cost at the end of the year

738,684
710,776

768,546
676,108

None of the investments relate to restricted funds and all are managed by HSBC. The valuation of the investments, at market value,
was performed by HSBC. The investments are held to provide an investment return to the charity. As at 31 March 2018, the market
value of investments listed in the UK amounted to £304,010 (2017 – £285,020). The remainder of £467,588 (2017 – £483,526) represented investments listed overseas.

13b
Investments in subsidiaries

2018
(£)

14
Stocks

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

Stocks held for resale in online shop

7,491

-

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

91,647
203,975
-

54,842
218,525
20,766

295,622

294,133

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

80,932
54,126
299,926
11,960

34,338
22,946
125,542
9,933

446,944

192,759

The amount held in the prior year was immaterial and not accounted for.

15
Debtors

Trade debtors
Prepayments and accrued Income
Other debtors

2017
(£)
16
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Marine Biological Consultants Limited (company number 1777391)
MCS Sales Limited (company number 1766795)

100
100

100
100

200

200

Investments in subsidiaries held by the charity represent the whole of the issued share capital of each of the companies above.
Both companies are registered in England and Wales. The companies were established to carry out trades which were not in themselves charitable (and which could not, therefore, be conducted by the charity) but where all the profits were gifted to the charity,
providing an additional income source to fund marine conservation. The companies are currently not trading and are dormant.

Trade creditors
Tax and social security
Accruals and deferred income
Other creditors

The increase in accruals and deferred income relates entirely to deferred income, where MCS has received during the year a number
of grants, sponsorships and corporate membership subscriptions that relate to activities in 2018/19, requiring the recognition of
£193,879 of income to be deferred.
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17
Statement of funds

At 1 April
2017 (£)

Unrestricted funds
General reserves
Designated funds

Restricted funds
General conservation
Clean seas programme
Fisheries programme
Ocean recovery programme
National Seasearch
Education and engagement
Scottish programme
Welsh programme
The Wakefield Fund

Total funds

Income
(£)

Expenditure
(£)

Transfers
(£)

Gains/losses
(£)

At 31 March
2018 (£)

931,879
424,050

2,234,258
-

(2,387,109)
-

(425,308)
360,629

(24,241)
-

329,479
784,679

1,355,929

2,234,258

(2,387,109)

(64,679)

(24,241)

1,114,158

16,198
19,034
72,358
367,306
15,500
37,551
1,650

39,500
25,404
60,213
192,847
50,481
118,052
20,315
101
-

(50,667)
(10,655)
(105,715)
(299,900)
(92,213)
(171,455)
(20,315)
(101)
(500)

290
4,732
11,127
31,840
16,690
-

-

5,031
34,073
31,588
271,380
5,608
838
1,150

529,597
1,885,526

506,913
2,741,171

(751,521)
(3,138,630)

64,679
-

(24,241)

349,668
1,463,826

Comparative statement of funds
for the year ended 31 March 2017

At 1 April
2016 (£)

Income
(£)

Expenditure
(£)

Transfers
(£)

Gains/losses
(£)

At 31 March
2017 (£)

Unrestricted funds
General reserves
Designated funds

1,142,756
-

1,206,976
424,050

(676,904)
-

(840,529)
-

99,580
-

931,879
424,050

1,142,756

1,631,026

(676,904)

(840,529)

99,580

1,355,929

Restricted funds
General conservation
Clean seas programme
Fisheries programme
Ocean recovery programme
National Seasearch
Education and engagement
Scottish programme
Welsh programme
The Wakefield Fund
MCS Trust Fund

Total funds
72
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22,998
30,922
94,787
752,687
195,385
26,400
1,650
3,515

27,985
88,245
127,390
347,252
78,888
147,143
8,947
3,493
-

(200,201)
(304,244)
(365,472)
(815,500)
(97,882)
(309,574)
(79,660)
(92,571)
(3,515)

165,416
204,111
215,653
82,867
34,494
4,597
70,713
62,678
-

-

16,198
19,034
72,358
367,306
15,500
37,551
1,650
-

1,128,344
2,271,100

829,343
2,460,369

(2,268,619)
(2,945,523)

840,529
-

99,580

529,597
1,885,526
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General funds
The general reserve represents the free funds of the charity that
are not designated for particular purposes.
Designated funds
The designated reserves are those funds set aside by trustees as
a contingency in the event of future income shortfalls.
Restricted funds
All restricted funds are for specific conservation or educational
projects in the UK and overseas. The transfers from the general
funds relate to the costs of a project not fully covered by grant
income. These funds are recorded and managed individually by
project but, for ease, are broadly categorised in these accounts
by type of activity.

development of sustainable wild-capture and farmed seafood
production, through projects such as conducting scientific
research to develop fish ratings and seeking to influence individual
behaviour through projects such as the Good Fish Guide.
Ocean recovery programme
Achieving good governance is the primary focus of funds
within this programme, promoting the laws and policies
designed to protect our seas through projects such as Agents
of Change.
National Seasearch
This is a scientific partnership programme with a number of
agencies and organisations to involve volunteer recreational
divers in the survey of marine species and habitats.

General conservation
This fund benefits all our conservation work, and includes
funding for the work of the Director of Programmes and to
develop impact reporting within the charity.

Education and engagement
These funds are supporting a range of projects aiming to
influence individual behaviour, such as Capturing our Coast and
Cool Seas Investigators.

Clean seas programme
Funds within this programme support our work to reduce
pollution from sewage, plastics and other contaminants,
working predominantly to influence individual behaviour
through campaigns such as Wet Wipes Turn Nasty and
campaigning against plastic straws.

Scottish programme
These funds support activities in Scotland.
Welsh programme
These funds support activities in Wales.

Fisheries programme
Funds within this programme support our work to promote the

18
Analysis of net assets between funds

2018
Tangible fixed assets
Investments
Net current assets

2017
Tangible fixed assets
Investments
Net current assets

The Wakefield fund
This was established to make awards to deserving students
studying the impacts of, or solutions to, coastal pollution.

Restricted
funds (£)

Designated
funds (£)

General
funds (£)

Total funds
2018 (£)

Total funds
2017 (£)

349,668

738,884
45,795

7,331
322,148

7,331
738,884
717,611

13,337
768,746
1,103,443

349,668

784,679

329,479

1,463,826

1,885,526

529,597

424,050
-

13,337
344,696
573,846

13,337
768,746
1,103,443

529,597

424,050

931,879

1,885,526
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2018
(£)

2017
(£)

54,490
85,273

12,000
47,490

139,763

59,490

20
Provision for liabilities

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

At the beginning of the year
Addition for dilapidations

4,000
4,539

2,000
2,000

At the end of the year

8,539

4,000

Land and buildings
Within one year
Within two and five years

Blue chalkboard © Emil Durov/Shutterstock

19
Operating lease commitments

As at 31 March 2018 the charity had total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as above.

The provision relates to the lease at Ross-on-Wye. An estimated sum recommended by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
for similar office accommodation is being set aside each year in order to provide for the expected dilapidations cost at the end of
the 20 year lease in 2034.

21
Related party transactions
There are no related party transactions during the period (2017 – nil).

22
Cash (used in)/generated from operations

2018
(£)

2017
(£)

Net expenditure
Fair value gains and losses on investments
Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets
(Increase) in stock
(Increase) in debtors
Increase in creditors

(421,700)
20,591
7,474
(7,491)
(1,488)
258,723

(677,109)
(95,142)
10,112
(35,192)
15,013

Cash (used in) operations

(143,891)

(782,318)

acknowledgement
of financial and other support
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THE MARINE CONSERVATION SOCIETY WOULD LIKE TO THANK ALL THE INDIVIDUALS
AND ORGANISATIONS THAT HAVE SUPPORTED THE SOCIETY’S WORK IN THE PERIOD TO 31 MARCH 2018
Organisations, Companies, Individuals, Charitable Trusts & Foundations
giving grants of £1,000 or more towards our conservation work:
The Adrian & Jane Frost Charitable Trust
The Alfred and Francis Rubens Charitable Trust
The Alfred Williams Charitable Trust
Anglian Water
Animal Friends Insurance Services Ltd
The Anson Charitable Trust
Anthony Garratt
Authenticate Information Systems Ltd
The Bale Family Trust
Batoko
The Big Domain Ltd
The Blair Foundation
Brita UK
Brother International Europe Ltd
The Bryan Guinness Charitable Trust
Bumi Armada UK
The Calendar Club
The Calleva Foundation
The Calouste Gulbenkian Foundation
Cargill Global Trading (UK) Ltd
Cayago AG
The Cecil Pilkington Charitable Trust
Jean-Marc Ciancimino
Compass Group UK
The David Uri Memorial Trust
Dechra Veterinary Products
De La Cuona
The Diana Edgson Wright Charitable Trust
The Dolly Knowles Charitable Trust
The Dulverton Trust
Earth Conscious Ltd
The Miss Edith Mary Sage Charitable Trust
The Esmée Fairbairn Foundation
Patrick and Linda Flockhart
The Gemma & Chris McGough Charitable Foundation
The George A Moore Foundation
The Glenmorangie Company Ltd
The Golden Bottle Trust
E Goulding
Haddenham Healthcare Ltd
Harbour & Jones
Haven Holidays
Helpful Holidays
The Henry C Hoare Charitable Trust
Heritage Lottery Fund
Holiday Cottages
House of Holland
The Hugh Fraser Foundation
Infinitea Ltd
The J & JR Wilson Trust
The John Coates Charitable Trust
The John Ellerman Foundation
The Joseph Strong Frazer Trust
The Lady Hind Trust
The Lady Yuen Peng McNeice Charitable Foundation
The Langdale Trust
Elaine Laws
The Leslie Mary Carter Charitable Trust
The Margaret Murdoch Charitable Trust
The Margaret Tottle Trust No 2
The Marjorie Coote Animal Charity Trust
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Marks & Spencer plc
The Martin Connell Charitable Trust
The Martin Laing Foundation
The Mary Homfray Charitable Trust
Keith McConnell
Stephen & Kim Meringoff
The Merriman Charitable Trust
The Millichope Foundation
The Mitchell Trust
Monterey Bay Aquarium
Natural England
Natural Resources Wales
Nature Travels Ltd
Nesta
The Oakdale Trust
OSPAR
Paper Round Ltd
Paua Trading Ltd
The Peacock Charitable Trust
Pentagon Facilities Ltd
The Percy Hedley 1990 Charitable Trust
The Peter Courtauld Charitable Trust
The Pilkington General Charity
The JSF Pollitzer Charitable Trust
The Postcode Animal Trust
Powell Gilbert LLP
R Powell
Princess Yachts International
PwC
Rapanui
Riz Boardshorts
The Ruth Smart Foundation
The Scottish Government
Scottish Natural Heritage
Seas at Risk
Shanks Mogwai
The Simon Gibson Charitable Trust
Skechers USA Ltd
Sky UK
Snaptrip
Snowline Media
South West Water
Stay In Cornwall
The Derek & Clare Stevens Trust
Supergroup plc
SURFside Ocean Academy
The Tabor Charitable Trust
Teignmouth Town Council
The Valentine Charitable Trust
Vector Resourcing Ltd
The Waffle House Ltd
Wagamama Ltd
Waitrose
The Waterloo Foundation
The Waynflete Charitable Trust
The Whitley Animal Protection Trust
Wild Nature Press
The WM Mann Foundation
Mr & Mrs Wormington
The Zoological Society of London
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Charitable & Company Trusts
giving a donation of £500 or more:
MCS expresses its gratitude to the many Trusts
and individuals who granted other donations
or wish to remain anonymous

Legacies & In Memoriam Donations:

Patrons, Supporters, Members and Groups:

Illustration by Mila_Endo/Shutterstock

Miss K M Harbinson's Charitable Trust
The Baker Charitable Trust
The Catherine Cookson Charitable Trust
The Coulhurst Trust
The Figgess Charitable Trust
The Gilbert & Eileen Edgar Foundation
The Henhurst Charitable Trust
The Inchrye Trust
The John Cowan Foundation
The Marsh Christian Trust
The MT Chamberlayne Trust
The Roger Vere Foundation
The Seven Pillars of Wisdom Trust
The Thomas Lilley Memorial Trust
The Tyldesley Charitable Trust
The Williams Dean Trust
The Wilmcote Charitable Trust
The Wyndham Charitable Trust
Adam Lindley
Anthony O Jones
Andrew Baker
Barbara Holt
Danu Fox
David Walkinshaw
Duncan Huggett
Graham Pickett
Ian Mardens Ruse
Jean Blair
Jean Wolstenholme
Joe Leonard
John Dando
John McAvoy
Michael Nourse
Nicholas Drew
Norma Cass
Richard Worts
Sean Yeates
Teresa Pullinger
Tom Willis
Wendy Nicol
MCS would like to thank its members, Local Groups
and Sea Champion volunteers for their support of
our conservation activities and fundraising efforts
over the year. Thanks also to all the volunteers who
supported MCS projects and/or gathered vital
information through Beachwatch, Great British Beach
Clean, Seasearch, Jellyfish, Basking Shark and Turtle
Watch. Also, to the many individual and community
participants, dive clubs, sports clubs, youth and
member organisations and school and college students
who raised money to support the work of the Marine
Conservation Society.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER SUPPORT
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